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Strategic Report
The directors present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is the sale and distribution of decorative paints, and the provision of toll
manufacturing services related to the AkzoNobel decorative paints business. This activity delivers on the AkzoNobel
Group purpose of pioneering a world of possibilities to bring surfaces to life’ and within this, delivers on the
Company’s own purpose to ‘inspire beautiful hvmg spaces.’

The Company is also an investment holding company and manages legacy matters relating to former businesses and
assets which were owned by the Company when it operated as a public limited company.

Business Review

The Company made a profit before taxation for the financial year of £91m (2019: £192m) during the financial year
and has net assets of £4,504m (2019: £4,406m) as at 31 December 2020.

The Company’s business is part of the AkzoNobel Decorative Paints UK & Ireland Business Unit. Full information
on the strategy of the Business Unit can be found in the Annual Report and financial statements of the ultimate parent
company, Akzo Nobel N.V. (Strategy - page 12, Consolidated Financial Statement - page 87 of Annual Report), copies
of which are available as indicated in note 26 of the financial statements.

Post Balance Sheet Events
Direct and Indirect Subsidiary Activities ’

On 12 January 2021, the Company’s indirectly owned subsidiaries changed name: Cuprinol Limited changed name
to Horseferry Investments Limited, and the former Horseferry Investments Limited was renamed Cuprinol Limited;
Polycell Products Limited changed name to ICI North America Limited and the former ICI North America Limited
" was renamed Polycell Products Limited.

On 1 March 2021, ICI Limited, an indirectly owned subsidiary changed its name to Canliq 3 Lumted and was placed
into Member s Voluntary Liquidation on 30 March 2021.

UK Paints Business

Overview

The ICI Paints business manufactures, distributes and sells directly a full range of interior and exterior decoration and
protection products for both the professional and do-it-yourself (“DIY”’) markets within the UK. The business operates
under brands such as Dulux®, Dulux Trade®, Cuprinol®, Polycell®, Hammerite®, Armstead®, Sikkens® and
International®. The Company prides itself on product innovation and continues to invest and bring new products to
market.

Operational performance

In 2020, market conditions were challenging as consumer confidence remained low and higher levels of inflation
continued. The Company maintained its decorative paints market share, although revenue from sale of products
increased by £57m (12%). This was enhanced by an increase of £7m in revenue from services including the
Company’s toll manufacturing activities. Raw material costs increased through 2020, more than eliminating the upside
in Revenue. As a result, the Company recorded an operating loss of £10m (2019: operating profit £49m). There was
also a reduction in interest income and dividend income, meaning profit before taxation was £91m compared with
£192m in the previous year.
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Key Performance Indicators

The Company assesses business performance over many indicators; both stand alone and also as a key part of the
Decorative Paints European Business Unit. Full analysis of this business unit is provided in the annual report of Akzo
Nobel N.V. as indicated above. The standalone indicators are presented in the below table.

Indicator 2020 2019 Delta
Turnover from sale of product £530m £473m - ) £57m
Adjusted Profit before taxation ROS | 15% 29% (14%)

The results reflect the challenging market conditions and inflationary environment, but the Company maintained
market share. The Company continues to drive operational excellence and strategy execution. Turnover includes both
third parties and intercompany sales. Adjusted profit before tax return on sale (ROS) is calculated as profit before
taxation excluding income from shares in group undertakings, and disposal of fixed assets, as a percentage of turnover
from sale of products. .

Further information on the Company’s decorative paints business can be found at www.dulux.co.uk

Impact of COVID-19 on our business

- A

The onset of COVID-19 has had a huge global impact, the repercussions of which will be felt for generations to come.
The first national lockdown on 26 March 2020, led to closure of all non-essential stores in the UK. The UK government
advised people to ‘stay at home’ which included working from home if possible. Within our business, many of our
colléagues were concerned for their safety on both a personal and financial level, unsure of how to navigate this new
reality.

The AkzoNobel UK Country Custodian Team (“CCT"), (which includes two Directors of the Company) took the lead
in managing processes to adapt the day-to-day operations of the business to facilitate remote-working across the wider
UK corporate group, and adaptation of HR policies to provide colleagues with clarity on pay, safety, flexible working
and wellbeing during uncertain times. The CCT provided regular communications to all colleagues to ensure they
had accurate and timely information regarding what was expected of them and how the business was adapting to
support them during this time. Colleagues were successfully able to work from home during lockdown. Some
colleagues, however, returned to offices and laboratories where there was an operational requirement or occupational
health need. For those colleagues, we rolled out detailed ‘Return to the Workplace’ plans ensuring that all locations
adhered to ‘strict health and safety measures which reflect government and PHE guidelines.

During the early stages of the pandemic, there was a demand for paints and coatings for NHS hospital refurbishments
and the rapid installation of temporary Nightingale hospitals to treat mass cases of COVID-19. The construction
industry was encouraged to remain open and contractors needed large supplies of our products to fulfil their contracts.
The safety of our colleagues who work across production sites, stores and offices in the UK & Ireland was at the
forefront of the Company’s planning and decision-making. A crisis leadership team was assembled to manage daily
calls, undertake site risk assessments, and implement new procedures/ ways of working.

At the Compémy’s productions facility in Ashington, Northumberland, the first hurdle for the team to overcome was
how to continue producing paint in a safe way. Quickly, shift patterns were altered to reduce contact between team
members and paint supply was maintained. '
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The UK & Ireland Management Team (of which 2 members are Directors of the Company) worked quickly to
implement government guidelines and keep productions sites operating safely during the pandemic to facilitate the
demand for paints and coatings by the government. On production sites, this included increasing cleaning frequency
and standards, providing specific PPE and hygiene materials, developing signage, improved employee
communications and developing specific COVID-19 HSE boards on sites to share information.

In addition, full business conference calls were conducted on a regular basis following the initial COVID-19 crisis to
keep the entire colleague base (including employees on furlough) up to date with how the business was dealing with
the situation and what this meant for them. Updates included: changes to operations, delivery service and overall
customer proposition, colleague HSE and COVID-19 related updates, colleague protocols, issues facing the business
and how these were being addressed. The calls allowed a forum for colleagues to directly ask senior management
questions and raise any concemns. During the year, a number of pre-recorded town hall meetings also took place with
colleagues given the opportunity to submit questions and comments in advance.

The UK subsequently entered into a second national lockdown on 22nd September 2020, which encouraged a return
to working at home, and a third national lockdown took place on 6 January 2021.

During this ongoing period of uncertainty, the Board of Directors has supported plans and activities that keep our
colleagues safe and follow UK government guidance.

On 19 July 2021, the UK government removed the vast majority of the restrictions in so far as they related to the
Company. The Company issued communications to colleagues, outlining steps for a phased return to the office
environment. This is currently ongoing. Plans are monitored regularly and using feedback from colleagues, adapted
to suit their needs with health & safety and wellbeing at the forefront of the transition to returmng to work in an office
envuonment

The Board of Directors receives COVID-19 updates from the project team on a bi-weekly basis. The long-term
progress of activities is reviewed at quarterly board meetings to ensure that the hea.lth and safety of our colleagues is
at the heart of our business. _

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2020, global financial markets have experienced, and may
continue to experience significant volatility and there are significant consequences for the global economy from travel
and border restrictions, quarantines, supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand and general market
uncertainty. The extent and duration of the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy and the sectors in which the
Company and its fellow group companies operate is uncertain at this time. . .

As of the signing date of these financial statements management was not aware of any material adverse effects on the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 as a result of COVID-19. Management will continue to
monitor the situation and the impact on the Company. - :

Sustainability '

Sustainability remains a key driver to the Company and also a core value, integrated in everything we do in the
AkzoNobel Group. We strive to lead our industry by pioneering a world of possibilities to empower people and reduce
our impact on the planet, while consistently innovating to deliver the most sustainable solutions for our customers.

The Group approach to sustainable business is called “People. Planet. Paint.”

+
People: We act with integrity and respect human rights across our operations and value chain, embracing diversity
and inclusion, to transform the communities in which we operate.
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Planet: We minimize our environmental footprint, reducing carbon emissions and moving towards zero waste by
pioneering increasingly sustainable solutions and processes.

Lo

Paint: We constantly innovate to bring surfaces to life by offering our customers the most sustainable solutions that
go beyond generations. ]

The Company’s stores are certified to International Standard ISO 14001 and ISO 9001, the international standard that
specifies requirements for a Quality Management System (QMS) and which demonstrates the Company’s ability to
consistently provide products and services that meet customer and regulatory requirements.

The Company continues to comply with the UK Government’s Carbon reporting requirements.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon reporting

The SECR disclosure presents our carbon footprint within the United Kingdom across Scope 1, 2 and to some extent
scope 3 emissions, an appropriate intensity metric, the total energy use of electricity, gas and transport fuel and an
energy efficiency actions summary taken during the relevant financial year.

Year to 315 December 2020

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) ' ’ 13,660,092
“Emissions from combustion of gas (Scope 1) tCOze 785
Emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2, location-based) tCOze 2,287
Total gross tCOe based on above 3,071
Intensity ratio (kgCOe/kl of production) ' 20.41

ENERGY EFFICIENCY ACTION SUMMARY
Year to 31 December 2020

Imperial Chemical Industries Limited achieves direct savings in energy and associated carbon emissions continuously
through operational and technological improvements, including;

Using biomass boiler on site and installation of a Solar PV array

Replacement of conventional lighting in offices and factories as well as the emergency lightings with LEDs
Replacement of high air dependent manufacturing pumps (Wilden) with Sandpiper ones which are 40% more
efficient

Repairing all compressed air leaks

Using more efficient powder transfer infrastructure through powder silos

Replacement of 240V infrastructure in manufacturing to 24V

Replacement of Cuprinol factory heating system with more efficient fans and motors.

Additional indirect energy and carbon emission savings have also been achieved through a range of measures,

including;

¢ Implementation of a new software application which provides both quality assurance and data capture capabilities
into one energy and carbon management solution on our GHG emissions.
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METHODOLOGY NOTES

Reporting Period » 1% of January 2020 — 31%! of December 2020
Boundary (consolidation approach) Operational approach
Alignment with financial reporting _ SECR disclosure has been prepared in line with Imperial
' Chemical Industries Limited’s annual accounts made up to
31% of December 2020.
Reporting method ) GHG Emissions reporting are in line with the Greenhouse
Gas (GHG) Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard. )
Emissions and Conversion factor source DEFRA, 2020 for all emissions factors- )
" https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-
* gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2020
Calculation method _ Activity Data x Emission Factor = GHG emissions
Activity Data x Conversion Factor = kWh consumption
Reason for the intensity measurement choice Based on the nature of our business, as well as following
the recommendations of the SECR legislation we chose the
following intensity metric: production volume (kiloliters).
This metric reflects the total tCO;. emitted in line with our
business performance and shows the development of our
energy efficiency. Through the comparison of the coming
financial years this metric will reveal the trends in Imperial
Chemical Industries Limited’s energy efficiency.
Rounding Due to rounding there might be a minor difference
compared to the actual GHG emissions (no more than 1%).
Other relevant information on calculation Electricity and natural gas consumption data was received
in kWh, consumption from kWh was converted to
emissions using the DEFRA emission factors linked above.

Associated Greenhouse gas emissions have been calculated using conversion factors advised by the UK government
for the year 2020 and can be accessed via the following link: Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 -
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).
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Principal Key Risks and Uncertainties
Economy

The main risks and uncertainties relating to the business are a downturn in the UK economy, specifically in relation
to reduction in consumer investment in home decoration and commercial construction projects. This uncertainty is
heightened by the impact of COVID-19. The extent and duration of the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy
and the sectors in which the Company and its fellow group companies operate is uncertain at this time.

Risk is managed via a group-wide ‘InControl’ framework, using Enterprise Risk Management processes and
mitigation action tracking, and a strong Internal Audit function Wthh assesses the adequacy and eﬁimency of risk
management and internal controls procedures. -

More information can be found here (https://report.akzonobel. com/2020/ar/govemance/rxsk-managementhtml and
here (https://www.akzonobel.com/en/about-us/governance-/policies---procedures/risk-management-)

There is also an Integrity and Compliance Committee at Akzo Nobel N.V. Group level.

The Company is focussed on the main areas of risk as outlined below:

o  Therisk of inability to supply post COVID-19, post Brexit administration/ potential REACH impact on small
supphers leading to poor OTIF and potential share loss and long-term customer relationship issues.

e The nsk of disruption and maintaining duty of care to employees due to changing restrictions and further
COVID-19 outbreaks, impacting our ability to effectively manage our operations. For further information,
please see section ‘Impact of COVID-19 on our business’ on page 2

e  The risk of customer & supplier frustrations due to inefficient back office processes impacting on our ability
to pay suppliers on time.

e  The risk of under investment in brand due to too much short-term focus, impacting on brand performance in
the long term

Mltlgatlons ' : - .
e Increased focus and pace on OneCommerce tool
s Development of efficient digital consumer and trade platform

e Moving Dulux Academy and Customer Experience to virtual platforms

Post-retirement benefits

The Company is the principal employer of the ICI Pension Fund (“ICIPF”) and the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension
Fund (“ISCPF”), two defined benefit pension schemes. Both are closed to new entrants. They are managed and
controlled by independent trustees. The funded status of these schemes is affected by the trustees’ investment
decisions, market conditions, demographic experience and any regulatory actions. They both require additional
funding (top up contributions) to address funding deficits determined in previous triennial funding valuations along
with regular contributions at agreed rates. Changes in the funding deficits may adversely impact our business and
results. AkzoNobel practices proactive pension risk management and continuously reviews options to reduce the
financial risks associated with all defined benefit schemes. Further details of the schemes are in note 23.
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Financial Risk Management

Financial risk includes price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk. These are addressed and managed at a
group level as disclosed in the AkzoNobel Report 2020, pages 121 to 124 and may be obtained from Christian
Neefestraat 2, 1077 WW Amsterdam Netherlands or onlme at: https://akzonobel.com/en/investors

An overall risk management program seeks to ldentlfy, assess and if necessary, mitigate these financial risks in order
to minimise potential adverse effects on ftnanctal performance.

Section 172(1) Statement

During discussions and decisions made during the year ended 31 December 2020, the directors of Imperial Chemical
Industries Limited have acted in the way that they consider in good faith, and would be most likely to promote the
long-term success of the Company for the benefit of its shareholders, whilst having due regard to the matters set out
in Section 172(1)(a) to (f) of the Companies Act 2006.

a) The likely consequence of any decision in the long term

It is the responsibility of the Company’s board to make decisions in line with our ambitions and ensure the business
is aware of and actively implementing the strategles devised to get and keep us there. The shareholders of our ultimate
parent company, Akzo Nobel N.V., are an essennal component when considering our operations. The Company values
and actively looks to facilitate shareholder involvement through its engagement with our parent company and the
wider group.

The board is aware of the ever-present risk of conflicts of interest that may affect their decision-making capabilities
and follows the policies and procedures in place to tdentlfy and manage conflicts as they arise, which is also embedded
in the Company’s Articles of Association. The directors take seriously the perennial risk posed by prioritising short-
term pressures over longer term strategic priorities and as a Board, considers how to ensure a balance is struck between
the need to meet immediate financial objectlves and our desire to achieve the kind of organic, long-term and
sustainable growth that we believe 1s the most ‘secure means to prov1de value to our shareholders and other
stakeholders.

The directors understand that COVID-19 has had a huge impact on the Company’s operations not only from a financial
perspective, but also in terms of personal safety, security and mental wellbeing of its employees. The directors give
high regard to the wellbeing of the Company’s employees and customers and the communities we operate in. The
section on ‘Impact of COVID-19 on our business’ on page 2 sets out some of the actions the Company took to support
colleagues workmg from home and the planmng, communication and momtormg activities surroundmg the ‘Return
to Work’ plans to ensure the wellbeing and health and safety of all colleagues.

To support the long-term success of the Company and ité; eméloyees during periods of national lockdown during the
financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Company received an amount of £106,711 under the UK government
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (JRS), also known as “furlough”.

The emergency employment support scheme was set up by the UK government in 2020 to help businesses retain
employees and avoid having to make redundancies due to the economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The scheme
covered 80% of a person’s salary up to a monthly capped amount.

The organisation used these funds primarily to protect jobs at our sites, which we opted to close for a short period in
April 2020. This enabled the organisation to react quickly to serve end market demand when it retumed.

Following the strong performance of our UK Decorative Paints business over the last year, the Company repaid all
furlough money received in April 2021.
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The directors understand the business and the evolving environment, including the challenges faced by the business.
Based upon the purpose of the Company, to provide cleaner, more environmentally friendly products, the strategy set
by the directors is intended to strengthen the position of being a leading paints and coatings company in its sector,
whilst keeping safety and social responsibility fundamental to the business approach. The directors recognise the
long-term success of the Company is dependent on the stakeholders and the external impact of the business activities
on society. , e

Future of the Board

To strengthén the Company in its purpose, plans are underway to.introduce a new governance framework for the UK
group of companies based on the Wates Principles. This framework will include plans to improve the diversity of
opinion and decision-making within the Board.

b) The interests of the Company’s employees

We are committed to making our Company a brilliant place to work for our péople. Colleagues are a key stakeholder
and the business puts considerable focus and energy on making AkzoNobel a brilliant place to work.

During the year, the Company focussed on five pillars of excellence in which to deliver its strategy: Quality
Leadership, A Brilliant Place to Work, Trusted Partner, Operational Excellence and Route to Market — all of which
rely on the support and engagement of colleagues.

i

In 2020, AkzoNobel was recognized as a UK Top Employer for the ninth time which underlines thé value and strength
of our people-focused campalgns, including: Thrive, our wellbeing programme; The Network, a development forum
for women in our business; Scrums our innovative colleague engagement initiative, which encourages colleagues to
share their progress against 2020 strategy, energise business conversation and debate around the Company’s strategy
at all levels; and Proud Parents, our matermty/patermty mentoring programme. In addition, the business provides a
quarterly Colleague Engagement Survey which gives colleagues the opportunity to tell us how they feel and whether
they’d recommend AkzoNobel as a good place to work, to a friend or family member.

During the peak of COVID-19 the Company created a fortnightly newsletter called ‘Shine Bright to help colleagues
navigate the pandemic and bring colleagues together with online quizzes, physical and mental wellbeing challenges
so that the organisation remain a Brilliant Place to Work for those working from home and those safely attending their
usual place of work.

In 2020 AkzoNobel introduced a new apprenticeship programme designed to develop existing sales talent. The Level
4 Sales Executive Apprenticeship runs over an 18-month period with successful Apprentices gaining a recognised
Level 4 qualification. 22 employees enrolled in the programme in'2020 and further 17 placements have been made
available in 2021.

The Company regularly recognises the good work of colleagues i m the #achieve and ‘on the spot’ winners. Below are
some of the 2020 winners:
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Women’s Inspired Network

The “Women’s Inspired Network’ is a collaboration of employees globally across AkzoNobel that provides a platform
for primarily women to celebrate their differences and increase their understanding of how personal & professional
lives are made richer by embracing diversity. The Network is an enabler to empower, inspire and connect women in
support of AkzoNobel’s diversity & inclusion ambitions and it widens access to networking for all employees
irrespective of gender. The feedback from participants has been excellent, and group speakers have included members
of the global AkzoNobel Executive Committee and the Creative Director for Dulux.

Mentorship scheme for women taking maternity and adoption leave

The Mentorship Scheme, previously managed as a pilot scheme, has now been fully implemented at Slough office. It
aims to provide support prior to, during and on return from maternity/adoption leave, to ensure that we give women
every reason to come back to us and maintain their confidence levels and personal development. The business has
facilitated a number of workshops so far, and has a panel of mentors who have a wide range of skills and personal
experiences, with the aim of matching each participant with a mentor who has a sumlar background and has
encountered similar challenges, both personally and professionally.’ :

~

Structured / Unstructured flexible working
Allowing all employees the ability to work flexibly in a professional and respectful manner has been identified as one

of the key drivers to addressing the current gender pay gap, as it allows both men and women to continue to develop
their career whilst respecting the non-work priorities which they also need to balance. Flexible working awareness is
being rolled out across all UK locations, and feedback from the business is that, whether driven through a formal or
informal approach, the new initiative is viewed positively and aims to allow all employees to achieve a more balanced
work-life balance without impacting business operations. Qutside of the formal / informal Schemes, local initiatives
such as senior management ‘leaving loudly’ and being open and transparent about working flexibly have also helped
to drive a more open environment in which flexible working is viewed as driving benefits for both AkzoNobel and
our employees.

We utilise a number of different mechanisms to foster two-way communication to ensure that we can share
information about the Company as well as to listen to the views of our employees. We also have a comprehensive
wellbeing and engagement programme which is driven by employees and actively supports inclusivity across the
diversity and inclusion spectrum as well as the mental and physical health of our people. We also participate in the
Mind Wellness Index in order to listen to our employees regarding their mental health and to 1dent1fy areas of
development.

Colleague wellbeing has been and continues to be a top priority since 2018 when a comprehensive wellbeing
programme was designed and implemented, under the Thrive brand as part of the organisation’s ‘Brilliant Place to
Work’ people strategy.

The Thrive programme covers four important pillars of colleague wellbeing:

1. Thriving Minds, addressing mental health topics and preventative campaigns supporting colleagues to build
their resilience and maintain or improve their mental health since 2018

2. Thriving Bodies, encouraging colleagues to stay physically healthy through several campaigns such as

+ Strava-based Active competitions and preventative, awareness raising health campalgns (Movember,

Ovarian Cancer Awareness Month) since 2019

3. Thriving Careers, challenging and empowering colleagues to take ownership of their career growth and
personal continuous development
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4. Thriving Communities, bringing colleagues together in several forums to address diversity and inclusion
opportunities within AkzoNobel on important topics such as gender diversity, LGBTQ+ inclusion and ‘
racial and ethnic mmonty challenges

Thrive has been designed, launched and embedded within the organisation after analysing and establishing that when
colleagues feel supported in the above four key areas, they are more likely to feel engaged and supported at work
whilst continuing to have opportunities to develop, feel happy, motivated and connected to the organisation. The aim
of Thrive it to educate and empower colleagues by modelling what the possibilities are for a more balanced lifestyle.
Looking after colleagues’ wellbeing and placing their health and safety centre stage within the organisation isn’t only
the right thing to do, but it also contributes to the bottom line, ultimately colleagues delivering better on commitments
and achieving organisational targets. Through successful delivery of regular, consistent campaigns under each of the
above four pillars, the Company aims to address key challenges such as improved retention rates, increased colleague
engagement and productivity, reduced absence rates and decreased turnover.

Since Thrive was launched, colleague engagement and overall teams’ morale improved significantly across the UK
group, however it is difficult to measure the true impact of the programme on absence and turnover rates, due to data
being skewed by the pandemic conditions. :
During 2020, the Company supported seminars and talks such as: Diversity & Inclusion: ‘Walk in Someone Else’s
Shoes,” Pride Network for LBGTQ+ celebrating Pride Month with “You, Me, Us’ talks, Planning for Success, The
Courage to Change, with discussion and Q&A from colleagues, Senior Leadership and some members of the
Executive Committee.

- 1 . . N
Thrive activities run in addition to other traditional occupational health tools and resources embedded within the
organisation, such as Employee Assistance Programme, Occupational Health Referrals and Mental Health First Aiders

support.

The Company also supports the learning and career development needs of our employees through our performance
management process, functional competency diagnostic tools and virtual learning and development progmms which
are available on demand, 24/7, including via smartphone.

But part of this process is also sharing the views and thoughts of the board with our employees through our senior
management team visiting our manufacturing sites, holding Townhalls or sharing internal communications outlining
business strategy. This allows us to provide our employees with the information they need and makes them aware of
the financial and economic factors impacting our business. :

For more information on how the Company managed the interests of its employees during the COVID-19 pandemic,
please refer to the section ‘Impact of COVID-19 on our business’ on page 2.

4

The Company also looks to ensure the voices of our employees are heard by allowing thermn to field questions to senior
management during events and, in more serious cases of misconduct, making use of our confidential ‘Speak Up’
grievance mechanism with its dedicated website and hotline. The Speak Up hotline allows employees to raise any
concerns they have in respect to breaches of the Group Code of Conduct. The hotline is operated by an independent
third party who forward details of the issues raised to our Compliance team to investigate, which depending on the
circumstances, may include HR. As an outcome of the investigation, the person making the report will be informed if
a Code of Conduct violation has been found to have taken place.

10



Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Strategic Report (continued)

The Company regularly reviews all current stakeholder engagement mechanisms. we are utilising to ensure their
effectiveness. '

The Company’s renumeration policy is designed to support the Company to attract, engage and retain the right people
with the right behaviours to drive growth and long-term value creation. In order to support this objective, the design
and implementation of our base salary structure is market driven, performance based, affordable, sustainable, clear
and transparent. The Company’s core philosophy is that pay should be based upon peoples’ achievements. As part of
the Company’s remuneration policy, each year base salaries are reviewed during the Annual Review Cycle. This
review is based on individual performance and relative salary position in line with the Company’s salary structures.

We use our passion for paint to make a difference: our products touch almost every aspect of our daily lives.
We fully recognise that maximising financial performance will only be possible by having a diverse workforce
which fully reflects the markets in which we operate.

As with many large Manufacturing organisations, we have a historical gender imbalance which has built up over a
number of years and will not be easily addressed — but we remain fully committed to building a culture in which
everyone, irrespective of gender or race, has the same opportunities to build a long and mutually fulfilling career —
whilst remaining flexible enough to enable as many possible lifestyle decisions to be incorporated into each
employee’s career with AkzoNobel.

Approach Taken
Under the requirements specified by UK legislation, we are required to report-on the legal entities within our Group

which have over 250 ‘UK employees’ (as defined in accordance with that legislation). The data provided in this
report is based upon the snapshot date of 5 April 2019, and the 12-month reference period up to 5 April 2020 for the
purpose of bonus analysis.

The Company actively seeks to achieve fairness in respect of remuneration although the directors are aware that the
Gender Pay Gap report shows that Company’s mean gender pay gap for 2020 was 3.38% a decrease of 5.92% from
the prior year (2018: 9.3%). In addition, the median result had fallen from 0.5% to -4.8% as a result of more female
employees working in certain functions.

There has been continued improvement in both the overall mean and median gender pay gap. The primary driver of
the reduction for ICI has been structural changes to the core business model impacting senior employees, leading to
a higher proportion of male employees leaving. Given the recruitment restrictions across AkzoNobel globally
created by the global pandemic, there has been little opportunity to address the current imbalance at the more senior
levels of the organisation. However, the issue has been highlighted at senior levels of the business, and there is a
concerted effort to address the issue in the longer term through the promotion of more cross-functional moves and
increased career development opportunities Taking a holistic view, the main structural issues identified previously
remain a key driver of the gender imbalance under review.

These remain:

* A much higher historical proportion of men across both executive and senior management positions

* The link between increased bonus opportunity and increased seniority

Building upon the initiatives outlined in previous years, the following activities are now fully consolidated into
normal business operations. There is real desire to ensure that all employees across AkzoNobel, irrespective of
gender, have an equal opportunity to both develop in role and have opportunities to move into more senior roles
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Improvements to recruitment processes
As outlined in previous years, we have made changes to our recruitment processes to ensure we attract a diverse
population of candidates for all advertised roles.

The key achievements are as follows:

= Whenever feasible, all internal and external recruitment advertisements state that flexible working will be considered
« All Hiring Managers have an intake call with the Talent Acquisition team to ensure that they are approaching each
vacancy in a consistent manner, and without any form of gender specific bias

* All adverts are ‘gender decoded’ to ensure that the terminology used to attract candidates is gender-neutral and not
inadvertently driving gender bias

« An active log is maintained of all senior managers recruited to allow an on-going review of gender split to be
reviewed and to assess the effectiveness of the recruitment policies

¢) The need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

The Company continues to work closely with customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to deliver products and
solutions that make their businesses more sustainable, while delivering economic value to all parties in the value chain.
Initiatives such as Grand Prix Performance Precision: Designed to increase focus on delivery of KPIs, complete
transparency and the fearless pursuit of ‘better’ with weekly core “pit stop” checks to review team performance,
challenges and agree priorities; identify opportunities for problem solving in the team and reviewing progress on
actions ensuring the team are clear on direction for the week ahead.

The Company also engages with customers using C-SAT and by following a Customer Manifesto, as well as ongoing
plans to improve operational ‘pain points’ within the business that affect the customer experience.

The Company’s key stakeholders are as follows:

Primary Stakeholfders
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The directors consider the interests of and impact on all stakeholders in any decision-making. The Company also
engages with suppliers, customers, trade bodies such as: The Confederation of British Industry, the British Coatings
Federation, Department for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural

Affairs, NGO’s, and local and national government on a regular basis to discuss relevant issues as well as for clarity
and guidance that the Company is adhering to any changes in policy.

As stated above, the Company’s stakeholder relationships are an integral part of the businesses’ considerations. The
Company acknowledges its responsibility to parent company shareholders and wider stakeholders and communities,
and our board considers how our operations might impact others.

For example, as part of AkzoNobel’s People. Planet. Paint. initiative the Company has committed to reducing our
carbon emissions by 50% by 2030. The Company is also undertaking a Sustainable Product Portfolio Assessment
which will rank all of our products according to key sustainability criteria to show where to focus our efforts to build
on our reputation as an industry leader in sustainability.

The Company recognises that through dialogue with our stakeholders and employees we can fully understand the
effects that the Company’s actions might have. Accordingly, the Company prioritises building strong, trusting
relationships with our employees, suppliers, customers, and the community operated in.

This requires us to be clear with our suppliers about our expectations. The Company does this by requiring suppliers
to sign up to our Business Partner Code of Conduct which outlines our core values and requires compliance with key
environmental, social, human rights and governance requirements. The Company also actively involve our suppliers
in our efforts to improve through our involvement in the Together for Sustainability program, part of which requires
suppliers to perform online assessments and on-site audits in order to meet a minimum sustainability score. Annual
re-assessment is required for those who fail to meet the threshold standard.

d) The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

In addition to our ongoing dialogue with our stakeholders, the Company and the wider Group is aware of its impact
on the community and the environment. The ultimate parent company makes use of eco-premium solutions to track
the performance in creating shared value for our business, our customers and society. There is an ambition across the
group to maintain at least 20% of revenue from eco-premium solutions by constantly innovating, based on insights
into evolving environmental concerns and societal needs. Eco-premium solutions need to exceed the reference in each
market in terms of sustainability performance. '

More widely, the Company has a long history in the UK, and we look to engage with and take an active role in the
local communities operated in. For example, via our True Colours Community Fund, the AkzoNobel businesses in
the UK have given £50,000 to 49 small and local charities in 2020, alongside one-off donations of paint and decorating
supplies to deserving causes like local hospitals.
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Following the donations, the 50 colleagues that were successful in the 2020 application for the True Colours Fund
were sent a survey to gain an insight into what causes they care about, what inspired them to apply, and their views
on the fund that year and what it meant to them to be able to help a charity they are involved in. The results were used
in communications regarding the Fund and to inspire other colleagues to apply in 2021.

Amber Foundation

Our Let’s Colour project for the Amber Foundation helped young, homeless people create a wellbeing space in their
residential centre. Qur partnership with Volunteer It Yourself (VIY) supported the renovation of two communal areas.
The Foundation provides a safe supportive environment that helps young, homeless people re-build their lives. These
young people are some of the most disadvantaged in society with 70% having mental health issues, 84% with
substance misuse problems and 60% with criminal convictions. The home’s aim is to support their young residents
to move out of their downward spiral and into education/employment.

VIY enable young, often disadvantaged young people to learn a trade via skilled trade mentors while transforming
rundown community properties. As the young people in the home formed their own support-bubble they were able to
work on transforming the space . It gave them the opportunity to volunteer in an environment in which they felt safe
and comfortable as well as learning new skills.

BAFFA

BAFFA is a community programme that has the goal of improving education opportunities for children in rural
communities of specific developing countries . Biennially, 15 volunteers from UK&I paints business form a group
that fund raise in order to build a new school in a pre-selected community in Asia or Africa. The team travel to the
location for the last 3 weeks of the build to work alongside the local community to finish the school and experience
what it’s like to live in local dwellings and be part of the community . The experience is a life enriching one that
leaves a long-lasting impact with our communities and employees .
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BAFFA 2020 Project

In February 2020 13 employees travelled to Chitwan , Nepal and over a two-week period helped to build a new two
storey classroom block for the Shree Kaparphori Secondary School. At that time the school had 14 teachers and 334
students.

e) The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct

There are a broad range of processes and procedures in place designed to provide control over the Company’s
operations. These processes and procedures include measures regarding the general control environment, such as:
Our core values

There are certain non-negotiable standards and responsibilities that apply to all our employees under all
circumstances. We call these our core values:

Safety — We care about the safety of our colleagues and everyone we deal with, focusing on people, product and
process safety

Integrity — We care about conducting our business in a fair and honest way
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Sustainability — We care about leaving a healthy planet for future generations, so we always strive to be more
sustainable and collaborate on leading solutions.

These values help us to stay successful as a company, today and in the future, by maintaining the balance between
people, profit and planet.

e We explain what these mean in practice in the AkzoNobel Code of Conduct, which guides the way we work
and how we treat others inside and outside our Company.

e The Business Partner Code — a set of business principles by which we operate and expect our business partner to
operate in order to do business with us

o  AkzoNobel group directives, policies and authority schedules — which the Company follows as part of its wider
govemnance within the Group '

e Risk Management System to ensure we have the right oversight of risks, opportunities and controls in place to
operate effectively '

e  Aletter of financial representation signed by director of the Company

¢) The need to act fairly as between members of the Company

The Company’s shareholder is another subsidiary within the AkzoNobel Group and its interests are aligned with the
ultimate parent company, Akzo Nobel N.V.; a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) established
under the laws of the Netherlands, with common shares listed on Euronext Amsterdam. AkzoNobel has a sponsored
level 1 American Depositary Receipt (ADR) program and ADRs can be traded on the international OTCQX platform
in the US. The company’s management and supervision are organized under Dutch law in a so -called two- tier system,
comprising a Board of Management (solely composed of ‘executive directors) and a Supervisory Board (solely
composed of non -executive diréctors). The Supervisory Board supervises the Board of Management and ensures a
strong'externa] presence in the govemance of the company. The two Boards are independent of each other and are
accountable to the Annual General Meeting of shareholders (AGM) for the performance of their functions. Our
corporate governance framework is based on the company’s Articles of Association, the requirements of the Dutch
Civil Code, the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), and all applicable laws and regulations, including
securities laws. The Code contains principles and best practices for Dutch companies with listed shares. Deviations
from the Code are explained in accordance with the Code’s “comply or explain” principle.

The directors are aware that they owe a duty of care primarily to the Company and its long-term success. However,
regard is also given to being part of a wider Group. The directors operate within the Group’s corporate governance
procedures, UK company law and all other applicable local laws.

The Company’s Section 172(1) Statement is also available on the AkzoNobel website at: Corporate govemance |
AkzoNobel (https://www.akzonobel. com/en/wnmmﬁ/akzonobel-uk—xreland/co rporate-govemance)

On behalf of the board
.M- The AkzoNobel Building
x.nscx:ﬁuey Wexham Road
Slough
United Kingdom
SL2 5DS
21 December 2021

16



Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Directors’ Report

The directors present their Directors’ Report and the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Results
Refer to the Strategic Report for the results for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Dividends o '

The directors did not pay an interim dividend during the year (201 9: £nil), nor do the directors recommend the payment
of a final dividend (2019: £nil).

Going Concern

Akzo Nobel N.V., the Company’s ultimate parent undertaking, has provided written notification that it shall continue
to provide financial and other support to the Company for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval
of these financial statements and thereafter for the foreseeable future to enable it to continue to trade. On this basis
the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, and it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in
preparation of the financial statements.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2020, global financial markets have experienced, and may
continue to experience significant volatility and there are significant consequences for the global economy from travel
and border restrictions, quarantines, supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand and general market
uncertainty. The extent and duration of the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy and the sectors in which the
Company and its fellow group companies operate is uncertain at this time. As of the signing date of these financial
statements management was not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2020 as a result of COVID-19. Management will continue to monitor the situation and the impact on
the Company.

Directors
The directors who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were as follows:

M. Smalley ’ .

D. Tummer = (resigned 1 September 2020)
J. Henderson . (resigned 30 June 2021)
N. Akay Kemahli (appointed 1 September 2020)
W. Baines (resigned 22 January 2021)
A. McAuley (resigned 30 December 2020)
G. Brown (appointed 10 June 2019)

J. Jimenez Lozano (appointed 1 January 2021)
Employees

The Company’s policy is to consider all job applications by disabled persons sympathetically in relation to the duties,
responsibilities and physical requirements of the vacancies, the aptitudes of the applicants, including the nature of the
disability, the working environment and the facilities required for the effective performance of the job by the applicant.
If any existing employee becomes disabled, the Company will examine any effects of the disability on current job
performance and take all practicable steps to maintain the employees’ continued employment through the provision
of appropriate retraining, changes in working facilities or, with mutual agreement, the provision of alternative
employment more closely related to the employees’ capabilities. The Company will continue to identify and monitor
the employment of Registered Disabled persons to determine its position in relation to the current statutory
requirements. .

Through the performance management process the training needs and career development of all employees are
identified and discussed, and all employees aré encouraged to have a development plan to ensure their skills and
competences are continually improving.
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Political contributions

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any political donations or incurred any political expenditure
during the current or prior year.

Financial Risk Management
Refer to the Strategic Report for details on financial risk management.
Future Developments

The directors are of the opinion that the Company is in a position to continue its principal activities during 2021 and
beyond. -

Research and development

The Company carries out research and development in support of existing activities, specific new product development
and the improvement of production processes of £1m (2019: £1m)

Directors indemnities

As permitted by the Articles of Association, the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a qualifying third-
party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force
throughout the last financial year and is currently in force. The AkzoNobel Group also purchased and maintained
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its Directors throughout the year and provides an
Indemnity Policy.

Corporate governance statement

The Company is a subsidiary of Akzo Nobel N.V., which is listed on the Dutch stock exchange. The Company has
not adopted a UK governance code at present and instead follows the Akzo Nobel N.V. Corporate Governance
Framework. The Company takes steps to ensure best practice in corporate governance is followed as a matter of
course. Please see these steps elaborated on below and grouped under headings which outline the Wates Corporate
Governance Principles for Large Private Companies:

Purpose and Leadership

The motivating ambition of the Company’s board is to maintain the Company’s position as a leading decorative paints
business while building on our reputation for innovation and sustainability. Building relationships with our suppliers
and customers and consistently seeking to provide value to our parent company’s shareholders are essential in
achieving this goal. Refer to the Strategic Report for more information concerning how the Board interacts with its
employees, stakeholders and shareholder.

Board Compeosition .

There are currently four directors appointed to the board of the Company. Our directors bring decades of combined
experience and come from a range of professional and cultural backgrounds. The extent of this experience and the
different perspectives that each of our directors represents is essential in facilitating the kind of sound, considered
decision making that our business relies on. All board appointments follow the Akzo Nobel N.V.’s Rules for Legal
Entity Directors. Many of our directors also hold positions across other companies in the wider AkzoNobel portfolio
— thereby facilitating collaboration and knowledge sharing across the group. Our directors undergo an on-boarding
programme upon appointment and thereafter continue to receive relevant training and updates on business-critical
commercial issues and trends from time to time, as well as more values-and compliance-focused refreshers and
cascades. Plans are currently underway to develop more engaging methods of delivering this training to the directors
given the recent opportunities for hybrid working.
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,
There are no non-executive directors and there is also no chairperson at present.

Wb
The Company (and the wider Akzo Nobel N.V. organisation) firmly believe that having a range of experience,
expertise and backgrounds has a positive impact on strategic decision making at both board level and across our entire
business. The business intends as a strategic priority to continuously review the composition of the board to enable
effective decision making and independent oversight.

Director Responsibilities
The Company’s board is responsible for overseeing the management of the day-to-day operations of the business and
outlining strategy in a consistent manner to help achieve our ambitions.

At all times when undertaking their work, our directors comply with the Companies Act 2006, rules delivered via
Akzo Nobel N.V.’s Corporate Governance Framework, the Company’s Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and related legislation expected of UK company directors. This ensures that responsibility is clearly assigned at all
times, facilitating accountability and efficient decision-making. The clear, demarcation of roles and responsibility also
avoids any confusion or uncertainty about the relationship between the Company and its ultimate parent company or
their shareholders.

The Company employs a robust policy to identify and manage actual or potential conflicts of interest of each of the
directors serving on its board and reviews the Register of Conflicts and processed defined therein, on a quarterly basis.

The Company employs a range of processes to ensure the integrity of the'information that the board is provided with
and bases its decisions on. Our Secretariat operates effectively to ensure board papers are provided in advance and
are, based on the latest information available. They support the directors in understanding their duties and
responsibilities on an issue-by-issue basis. B

The Company has policies in place to manage it delegated authorities and ratification procedures which are reviewed
by the directors on a regular basis.

Opportunity and risk
The business identifies opportunities for innovation and entrepreneurship.

AkzoNobel has invested heavily in our UK&I business in the last five years including the building of the world’s most
sustainable paint manufacturing factory in Ashington in 2017 and in March 2019, the wider group opened a ground-
breaking £10.8 million R&D Innovation Campus in Felling. We're also, for example, investing in equipment in Felling
to enable us to test and predict rain erosion performance on wind turbine blades and ensure longer lasting performance
in this sector.

Under our Paint pillar, innovation in sustainable products is a key focus for us and we aim to have more than 50% of
our portfolio made up of sustainable solutions by 2030.

An example of this is Dulux Trade Evolve Matt which is our first paint made with 35% recycled paint content. We
have focused on reclaiming paint destined for landfill or incineration, that has been through a strict recycling process
and re-engineered into a new matt product with all the quality you would expect from Dulux Trade. Driven by our
continued commitment to sustainable innovation, we have worked with waste management partner, Veolia to develop
Dulux Trade Evolve Matt.

For further information on ‘Risks, Remuneration and Stakeholder Engagement’ please refer to page X of the Section
172(1) Statement.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements and the - ﬁnancnal statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that lawvthe directors
have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and apphcable
law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they. are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of-the Company and of the profit or-loss of the Company for that period. In
preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to: '

o select smtable accounting pohcnes and then apply them consistently;

¢  state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been followed,
subject to any material departures'disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e make Judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
-Company will continue in business. . -

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention-and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

® S0 far as the director is.aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware; and

o they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been appointed as the Company's auditors, holding office until to the end of the
next period for appointing auditors in accordance with section 485(4c) of the Companies Act 2006.

The AkzoNobel Building
Wexham Road

Slough

United Kingdom

G. Brown SL2 5DS
Director

21 December 2021
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Imperial Chemical Industries Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Imperial Chemical Industries Limited’s financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as‘at 31 December 2020 and of its profit for the
year then ended; _

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™, and applicable law);
and ’ ‘

e have been prepared in accordance with theé requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the Balance Sheet as
at 31 December 2020; the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then
ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating te going concern : Co
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accountmg
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the
company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

21



Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
(continued)

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express ari audit opinion or, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material
misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain
o_pinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report
and Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance w1th
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could. reasonably be. expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. .

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulatlons We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to (detect material mlsstatements in respect of megulantles mcludmg
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting megulantles including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance
with laws and regulations related to data protection requirements in the jurisdictions in which the company operates
and holds data, tax legislation and employment regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a
direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives
and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls),
and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries, either in the underlying
books and records and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement
team included: .

¢ Discussions with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations and fraud;

o Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in it’s significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain;

e Testing unusual journal entries to ensure that these were appropriate in nature and magnitude.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or \

¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

o the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
NES w ' '

Miles Saunders (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Reading

22 December 2021
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Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Jor the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019
£m £m

Turnover 4 591 527
Cost of sales - (485) (413)
Gross profit 106 114
Distribution costs (70) (78)
Administrative expenses (46) (33)
Other income . 5 - 46
Operating (loss)/ profit 5 (10) 49
Income from shares in group undertakings 6 4 7
Other interest receivable and similar income 7 110 143
Interest payable and similar expenses : 8 (13) (O]
Profit before taxation ‘9 192
Tax on profit 11 (55) (32)
Profit for the financial year 36 160
Other comprehensive income / (expense)
Items that will not be reclassified to the statement of comprehensive income
Remeasurements of defined benefit asset - 23 76 (69)
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified to the statement of 11 (14) 12
comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income / (expense) for the year, net of tax 62 (&)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 98 103
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Imperial Chemical Industries Limited

Registered number 218019
, . ) Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
) ' 31 December 2020
, _Balance Sheet
'aISIDecember2020 S Sty ! SEELLAL
Note 2020 2019
. £m £m
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 12 165 182
. Right of Use Assets 20 6 6
-Investments . 13 3,786 3,786
: vNet deﬁned beneﬁt asset ) 23 849 755
4,806 4,729
Current assets
Stocks 14 5 . 4
Debtors (including £2 800m due after one year (2019 £2, 500m) 15 3,289 3,192
Cash at baok and in hand . 1 1
. Assets classified as held for sale . 27 - . .6
3,295 3,203
_ Creditors: amounts falling due within one year - 16 3,297 ) (3,263)
Provisions (current) C17 12) )
Net current assets/(liabilities) o 149 (69) .
Total assets less current liabilities 4,792 4,660 -
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 279 (244)
Provxsmns for habﬂmes 17 -9 (10) '
(288) (254)
Net assets . 4504 ¢+ - - . 4406
. Capital and reserves -
Called up share capital veoo 210 1209 - - - ¢ 1,209
Share premium account ' 940 940
Retainéd earnings 2,355 , 2,257 .
. Total shareholders’ fands 4,504 4,406

The notes on pages 28 to 66 is an integral part of these financial statements.

These ﬁna.ncml statements on pages 25 to 66 were approved by the board of directors on 21 December 2021 and were
signed on its behalf by:

M. Smalley
Director
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Imperial Chemical Industries Limited

Registered number 218019
Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020
Statement of Changes in Equity
Jor the year ended 31 December 2020
Restated
Called up share Share Restated Total
) N Premium Retained
.Capital A . . shareholders’
ccount earnings
funds
£m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2019 1,209 940 2,154 4,303
Profit for the financial year - - 160 160
Other comprehensive expense '
Remeasurements of defined benefit asset - - 69) (69)
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified - - 12 12
to the statement of comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 103 103
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,209 940 2,257 4,406
Share ' Total
Called “g:h:t;el Premium Re:aline(: shareholders’
P Account earning funds
£fm £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2020 1,209 940 2,257 4,406
Profit for the financial year - - 36 36
Other comprehensive income
Remeasurements of defined benefit asset - - 76 76
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified to - - (14) (14)
the statement of comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 98 98
Balance at 31 December 2020 1,209 940 2,358 4,504
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Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019
Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020
Notes to the Financial Statements
1 General information

Imperial Chemical Industries Limited (the “Company™) is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated
and domiciled in the UK. The Company registration number is 218019 and the registered office address is The
AkzoNobel Building, Wexham Road, Slough, United Kingdom, SL2 5DS.

2 Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below and have,
unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial statements.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”) under historical cost convention in pounds sterling. The
amendments to FRS 101 (2013/14 Cycle) issued in July 2014 and effective immediately have been applied.

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking, Akzo Nobel N.V includes the Company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements of Akzo Nobel N.V are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from Christian Neefestraat 2, 1077
WW, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

The Company is exempt by virtue of Section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking
and not about its group.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the
following disclosures:

e  Statement of Compliance with I[FRS

e  Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

e Comparative period reconciliations for share capital;

e Disclosures in respect of transactions entered in to between two or more wholly owned members of a group;
¢ Disclosures in respect of capital management;

o The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

« Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of Akzo Nobel N.V. include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

e  Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
Financial Instrument Disclosures

2.2 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for net defined benefit asset/ (liability), which
is measured at fair value of plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit plan obligation, as explained in
Note 2.18.
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Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.3 Going concern

Akzo Nobel N.V_, the Company’s ultimate parent undertaking, has provided written notification that it shall continue
to provide financial and other support to the Company for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval
of these financial statements and thereafter for the foreseeable future to enable it to continue to trade. On this basis
the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, and it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in
preparation of the financial statements.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in the ﬁrst quarter of 2020 global financial markets have experienced, and may
continue to experience significant volatility and there are significant consequences for the global economy from travel
and border restrictions, quarantines, supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand and general market
uncertainty. The extent and duration of the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy and the sectors in which the
Company and its fellow group companies operate is uncertain at this time. As of the signing date of these financial
statements management was not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2020 as a result of COVID-19. Management will continue to monitor the situation and the impact on
the Company.

2.4 New standards, amendments and IFRIC interpretations

There are no amendments to accounting standards, or [FRIC interpretations that are effective for the year ended 31
December 2020 that have a material impact on the company’s financial statements.

2.5 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in
‘Pounds Sterling’ (£), which is also the Company’s functional currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currency at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at forelgn exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
2.6 Debtors

Amounts receivable are amounts due from group companies and amounts due from customers for merchandise sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Amounts receivable are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

The impairment is calculated using the simplified approach which requires recognition of lifetime expected credit loss
(no tracking of changes in credit risk).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) .
2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.7 Creditors

Amounts payable-are amounts due to group companies and obligations to pay for goods or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Amounts payable are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently meéasured at amortised ‘cost using the effective mterest method.

2.8 Borrawmgs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequent]y carried
at amortised cost;. any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings usmg the effecnve interest method.

2.9 ' Investments in substdwnes ami associated undertakmgs

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint' ventures -are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Investments are annually reviewed and considered for 1mpa1rment if events or changes in cucumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. . : : S ‘

2.10 Tangible fixed assets

All tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depfeciaffon Hiétorical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equny of any gains/losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of tangible fixed assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as.appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost
or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 30 - 40 years
Fixtures & Fittings . 10 years
Plant and Equipment 3- 10 years

As it is necessary to select a method of applying depreciation that results in the carrying amount of the asset being
allocated as fairly as possible to the periods expected to benefit from the use of the asset, for large new plants above
a threshold of £4m, depreciation for the first 2 years is calculated proportionate to planned production until the assets
are fully operational. The remaining book value is depreciated in equal amounts during the remaining years of the
originally expected economic life. This method reflects most closely the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits
are expected to be consumed by the entity.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.11  Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

212 Research and development expenditure

Expendxtnre on research and development is charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which
it is incurred. .

213 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The weighted average cost method of valuation is
used. In accordance with the contract manufacturing and distribution agreement effective from 1 October 2014, the
economic risk associated with stocks used by the Company remains with AkzoNobel and as a result stocks have been
excluded from the balance sheet. The inventories recorded on the balance sheet are spare parts for use in the
manufacturing process, and in the execution of colour mixing.

2.14  Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds, respectively:

The current tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill; or arise from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit w1ll be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there i is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

\

2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.15 Turnover
Sale of goods

The Company’s Business consists of selling paints and ancillary products to customers at contractually determined
prices and conditions without any additional services. Although the transfer of the risks and rewards is not the only
criterion to be considered to determine whether control over the goods has transferred, it is in most situations
considered to be the main indicator of the customer’s ability to direct the use of and obtain benefits from the asset and
largely also coincides with the physical transfer of the goods and the obligation of the customer to pay.

Variable consideration, including among others rebates, bonuses, discounts and payments to customers are accrued
for as performance obligations are satisfied and revenue is recognised. Variable considerations are only recogmsed
when it is highly probable that it is not subject to significant reversal.'In case of expected returns, no revenue is
recogmsed for such products but a refund liability and an asset for the rlght to recover them to be returned products
are recorded

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold generally based on
historical warranty data. Revenue is recognised net of rebates, discounts and similar allowances, and net of sales tax.
No adjustment related to services was needed.

Services

Operating lease income is recognised in line with the benefit from the use of the‘underlying assets that are diminished.
The Company is involved in toll manufacturing services for which it earns a fixed return on production costs incurred.
Equipment provided to customers ' o

Akzo Nobel regularly provides mixing machines, store interior and other assets to its customers at the start of a paint
delivery contract. Previously, such assets were not treated as a separate performance obligation and their costs were
expensed during the contract period. ’

Under IFRS 15, the delivery of such assets qualifies as a separate performance obligation. However, in most cases no
revenue can be recognised at the moment of transfer of such assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Company expensed £1.8m (2019: £1.3m) of equipment provided to,
customers free of charge.

2.16 Interest income ’ o o,

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the
Company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at
the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

2.17 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive
income in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s net
obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to
determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) are deducted. The Company determines
the net interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure
the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability/(asset).

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that have a credit rating of at least AA that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits are expected to be paid.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest). The Company recognises them
immediately in other comprehensive income and all other expenses related to defined benefit plans in employee benefit
expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to past
service by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive
income when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs.

The calculation of the defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value
of benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions and takes into
account the adverse effect of any minimum funding requirements.

The Company is the sponsoring employer of group wide defined benefit pension plans. As there is no contractual
agreement or stated group policy for charging the net defined benefit cost of the plans to participating entities, the net
defined benefit cost of the pension plans is recognised fully by the sponsoring employer, which is the Company. The
contributions payable in respect of active members by the participating entities are determined following each triennial
valuation conducted by a qualified independent actuary, and charged as a percentage of salary costs. The Company
recognises non sponsoring entity contributions in its statement of comprehensive income, as a net deduction against
the defined benefit pension plan costs. If non sponsoring entity contributions exceed the current service cost, the
excess of contributions over current service cost, are recorded in other comprehensive income.

As the Company has an unconditional right to any surplus of the scheme it recognises an asset as the amount of the
surplus at the balance sheet that it has the right to receive as a refund. This is the fair value of the plan assets less the
present value of the defined benefit obligation.

2.19  Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other debtors, cash
and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. In the balance sheet, bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.19  Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)
Trade and other debtors

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. The impairment is calculated using the simplified
approach which requires recognition of lifetime expected credit loss (no tracking of changes in credit risk).

Trade and other creditors

Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers.

Creditors are recogmsed initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the eﬁ'ectlve interest
method.
2.20  Leases

The Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for a consideration.

As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the
leases of cars the Company has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease
components as a single lease component.

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use
asset is initially measured at the present value of the lease liability. The right-of-use asset value contains lease
prepayments, lease incentives received, the initial direct costs and an estimate of restoration, removal and dismantling
costs.

The right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the end of the lease term or shorter economic life. In addition, the right-of-use assets are reduced by impairment losses,
if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The net present value of the lease liability is measured at the discounted value of the lease payments. The liability
includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the
lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease. The lease payments comprise the following:

« Fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives

« Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate

« The exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised

» Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate
the lease; and

« Amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees.
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2.20  Leases (continued)

These lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be readily determined.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, the incremental borrowing rate is used. Incremental borrowing rates are
determined by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources and make certain adjustments to reflect
the term of the lease and type of the asset leased.

At the lease commencement dates, it is assessed whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The
Company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant
change in circumstances within the Company’s control.

At the commencement date, it is assessed whether it is reasonably certain that:

* An option to extend is exercised; or

* An option to purchase is exercised; or
* An option to terminate the lease is not exercised

In making these assessments, all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for us to exercise,
or not to exercise, the option, including any expected changes in facts and circumstances from the commencement
date until the exercise date of the option are considered.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The Company elected not to recognize on the balance sheet righf-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. The Company recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.21 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition. Management must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification. When the Company is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Company will retain a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.
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3 Accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resultmg accountmg esnmates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed
below.

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme

The Company has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and the present
value of the obligation depend on a number of factors, including; life expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations
and the discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors in determining the net pension
obligation in the balance sheet. The assumptions reflect historical experience and current trends. -

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits are measured at present value, using actuarial assumptions and
methods. The benefits of these pension plans are based primarily on years of service and final pensionable pay. The
sensitivity of the assumptions is analysed in note 23.

3.2 Critical ]udgements in applying the entity’s accounting pobam
(@ Multt-employer defined benefit pension scheme

Certain employees participate in a multi-employer defined beneﬁt pension scheme with other companies in the region.
In the judgment of the directors, the Company does not have sufficient information on the plan assets and liabilities
to be able to reliably account for its share of the defined benefit obhgatlon and plan assets. Therefore the scheme is
accounted for-a defined contribution scheme. -

(b) Uncertain tax positions

The Company is a member of a group litigation in the UK, known as the Franked Investment Income Group Litigation
Order (“GLO”), against HMRC. The company needs to estimate the ultimate outcome of this case and the amount of
tax which is ultimately recoverable which requires significant estimation uncertamty Further details are provided in
note 11 to the accounts. ,

33 Other accounnng estlmates and assumptions
(a) Useful economic lives of tangible fixed assets

The annual depreciation charge for tangible fixed assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful economic lives
and residual values of the assets The useful economic lives and residual values are re-assessed annually. They are
amendéd when necessary to réflect currént estimates, based on fechnological advancement future investments,
economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets.

(b) Impairment of debtors and recoverability

The Company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of amounts receivable. When assessing impairment of
amounts receivable, management considers factors including the credit rating of the receivable, the ageing profile of
receivables and historical experience.

(c) Impairment of investments

When assessing impairment of non-financial assets, management considers factors including the net asset value,
nature of the entity and historical experience (such as political environment).

(d) Deferred tax assets

When assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers future taxable profits and cash flow
forecasts. These forecasts are estimated and inherently uncertain.
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) Turnover

The majority of the Company’s business operations are within one business segment, Decorative Paints and one
geographic segment, the UK. Therefore, the profit and loss account reports the segmental information of the Company.

2020 2019

£m £m

Sale of goods : 530 4T
Rendering of services 61 54
591 527

Equipment provided to customers

The Company provides mixing machines, store interior and other assets to its customers at the start of a paint delivery
contract. Previously, such assets were not treated as a separate performance obligation and their costs were expensed
during the contract period.

Under IFRS 15, the delivery of such assets qualifies as a separate performance obligation. However, in most cases no
revenue can be recognised at the moment of transfer of such assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 the Company expensed £1.8m (2019: £1.3m) of equipment provided to
customers free of charge

5 Operating (loss) / profit

Operating (loss) / profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2020 2019

. £m £m

Wages and salaries ‘ 38 ' 41

Social security costs S 6

Other Pension costs 7 2

Staff Costs 50 49

Restructuring costs 8 5

Operating lease expenses - -

Past service cost on defined benefit pension scheme (Note 23) 4 1
Profit on disposal of land and buildings - (46)

2020 2019

£000 £000

Audit fees payable to the Company’s auditors 239 146

In 2020 past service costs of £4m (2019: £1m) were incurred in relation to early retirements in the ICI Pension Fund
(“ICIPF”).
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6 Income from shares in group undertakings
' ' 2020 2019
£m ‘ £m
Income from shares in group undertakings 4 7
7 Other interest receivable and similar income
2020 2019
£m £m
Interest receivable from group undertakings 94 121
Net financing credit on post-employment benefit (see note 23) 14 .20
Net exchange gains 2 2
110 ’ 143
8 _ Interest payable and similar expenses o s
2020 2019
£m £m
Interest payable to group undertakings . o) U]
Interest payable to 3® parties @® -
Net exchange losses - E -
a3 D
9 Directors and employees

Directors of the Company also provide qualifying services to other Group companies. Directors’ time is not
apportioned and their costs are not allocated between Group companies.

The remuneration of directors paid by the Company is as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Aggregate Directors’ emoluments paid by the Company 867 816
Amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes 87 440
Company contributions to-money purchase pension schemes 81 76
Company contributions to final salary pension schemes 68 67
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9 Directors and employees (continued)

The remuneration of directors paid by other Group companies for services to the group as a whole and not recharged
including a significant proportion to this Company, is as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Aggregate Directors’ emoluments paid by other Group Companies 430 ) 401
Amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes 56 56
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 5 -
Company contributions to final salary pension schemes 36 -
The following includes all Directors:
Number of Number of
directors directors
2020 2019
Retirement benefits are accruing to the following number of directors under:

Money purchase schemes 4 4
The number of directors in respect of whose services, shares in the ultimate parent company 4 ' 4
were received or receivable under long term incentive schemes

Highest paid director
The highest paid directors’ emoluments were as follows:
2020 2019
£000 £000
Total amount of emoluments and amounts (excluding shares) receivabie under Long-term : 584 330

incentive schemes
Money purchase schemes - -
Defined benefit pension scheme:

accrued pension at the end of the year " 67 © 64
accrued lump sum at the end of the year

The highest paid director exercised share options in the ultimate parent company. Directors> emoluments were not recharged to the
Company (2019: were not recharged).
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10 Staff numbers

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Company (including executive dlrectors) during the year
was 585 (2019: 656), analysed as follows:

2020 2019

Number Number

Production 213 217
Sales and distribution : : 170 . 157
Administration . 66 . 137
Research and development : 136 145
585 656

During the year restructuring related severance costs of £6m (2019: £6m) were recorded equally in administrative and
distribution expenses. & .

11 Tax on profit

Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Analysis of charge in year , 2020 2019
£m ) . fm
UK corporation tax
Current tax charge for the year 9 ®
Prior year tax charge ’ . 25 -
34 @
Deferred tax
Origination/reversal of timing differences 21 ) 40.
Total deferred tax charge - 21 - 40
Tax charge on profit 5§ 32
Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income/(expense) 2020 2019
£m £m
Remeasurements of defined benefit asset 14 ‘ (12)
Tax charge/(credit) on other comprehensive expense '_ 14 . 12
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11 Tax on profit (continued)
Reconciliation of standard tax rate

2020 2019

£m £m

Profit before taxation 91 192
Tax using UK corporation tax rate 19% (2019: 19%) 17 36
Income not taxable — dividend income 1) 1)
Income not taxable — sale of PPE - 190
Origination/reversal of timing differences 12 7
Expenses not deductible 2 -
Adjustment relating to prior year 25 -
Total tax charge 55 32

Franked Investment Income Litigation

The Company is a member of a group litigation in the UK, known as the Franked Investment Income Group Litigation
Order (“GLO”), against HMRC. The GLO collects claims made by 25 corporate groups in the UK High Court seeking
the repayment of advance corporation tax (“ACT”) and tax on dividend income on the basis that its levy by the UK
was contrary to EU law. The Company’s claim covers the period 1975 to 1997 and both the Company’s claim and the
GLO commenced in 2003. A test case was selected from the members of the GLO to proceed to trial on a
representative basis; this test case was not the Company’s claim. '

Following issuance of guidance in December 2006 by the European Court of Justice (“ECJ”), the UK High Court in
November 2008 found in favour of the claimants on certain key aspects of the claim. The judgment concluded, inter
alia, that dividends received from EU subsidiaries should be, and should always have been, effectively exempt from
UK taxation. It also concluded that certain dividends received from EU subsidiaries before 5 April 1999 should have
been treated as franked investment income, with the consequence that ACT need not have been paid. In addition, it
concluded that retrospective legislation introduced to limit claims to tax paid within six years of the issue of the claim
was unlawful. The judgment was appealed by HMRC. Following this UK High Court judgment, the Company, along
with other members of the GLO, applied for and received in August 2009 an interim payment of approximately £64m,
made up of interest and reclaimed ACT.

The appeal was heard by the Court of Appeal in October 2009 and the judgment was given in February 2010 mainly
in favour of HMRC, following which HMRC appealed against the payments of interim payment awards. The judgment
upheld the validity of the legislation which restricted claims retrospectively to tax paid within 6 years of the issue of
the claim. The Company’s claim however included sufficient payments of tax within that period which would still
have been regarded as unlawful under the High Court’s judgment. Accordingly, the Company retained the interim
payment on the grounds that its claim could be restructured such that a similar interim payment would be due to the
Company. The appeals by HMRC against the interim payments were dismissed by the Court of Appeal in January
2012.

The issue of the validity of the retrospective legislation restricting claims to a six year time limit from the issue of the
claim was heard by the UK Supreme Court in February 2012 and, in May 2012, decided in favour of the principal test
claimant. Therefore, claims submitted before 8 September 2003, (including the Company’s) could extend back as far
as 1973.

The Court of Appeal February 2010 judgment also determined that various questions should be referred back to the
EC]J for further clarification, and this took place in February 2012. An ECJ judgment was made in November 2012
which confirmed that the UK treatment of EU dividends was discriminatory. The judgment includes third country
dividends from 1994 in certain circumstances; it also confirms that the claim can cover dividends from all indirect as
well as direct EU subsidiaries and also ACT paid by a superior holding company.
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11 Tax on profit (continued)

The case then reverted to the UK High Court to apply the November 2012 ECJ judgment, with the trial held in May
and June 2014. The UK High Court issued its rulings in December 2014 generally in the favour of the test claimant.
However, the case was then immediately appealed to the Court of Appeal which was heard in June 2016. The judgment
of the Court of Appeal, which was delivered on 24 November 2016, was generally in favour of the test claimant.
Permission was granted to appeal the Court of Appeal decision to the Supreme Court.

In November 2015, a separate claim issued by the Company in respect of Foreign Income Dividends was heard by the
High Court. The judgment (which was favourable to the Company) was issued in January 2016 and HMRC made
additional tax repayments of £8.7m less the new 45% restitution interest tax, resulting in a cash repayment of £4.8m.

Submissions for the appeal from the Court of Appeal to the Supreme Court were split into two parts.

The first part, which was heard in February 2020, addressed HMRC’s argument that claims should be limited to tax
paid in the 6 years prior to the claim being issued. In the judgment, which was delivered in November 2020, the
Supreme Court overruled a previous decision of the House of Lords in respect of the test for discovery of a mistake,
which had been established in the Deutsche Morgan Grenfell case, and established a new test in its place. It then
returned the case to the High Court for findings of fact to take place. It is anticipated that this may add approximately
three years to the litigation.

Submissions for the second part of the appeal were heard by the Supreme Court in December 2020. In its judgment,
delivered in July 2021, the Supreme Court found in favour of the claimants in respect of four issues, but found for
HMRC in respect of two important issues, overruling previous judgments. Claims for utilised unlawful ACT have
been reduced to the recovery permitted under the statutory remedy in Section 85, Finance Act 2019, which is limited
to ACT paid after 1 January 1996, and all claims for surplus unlawful ACT (to include unlawful ACT utilised against
unlawful Schedule D Case V tax and cash payments of unlawful Schedule D Case V tax) have been preserved but
with simple interest at bank base plus 1% until 5 February 2009 and plus 2% thereafter, meaning that compound
interest will no longer apply to any repayments.

Following the Supreme Court judgment issued in July 2021, the Company has reassessed the repayments it has
received from HMRC in respect of this litigation. This is based on (a) the decisions of the courts to date and (b) the
value of claims already approved by the Courts (with supporting evidence to justify repayments). Further elements of
the full claim will be reviewed once appropriate supporting evidence to justify the additional claims has been obtained.

The current value of the claim related to the interim payment which was received in 2009 (see above) for which
supporting evidence has already been supplied to the courts, amounts to £37.7m, and in respect of the Foreign Income
Dividend (see above) amounts to £4.5m. Taking into account corporation tax related to the interest element of these
adjustments, a net tax charge of £24.9m is reflected in these accounts.

The interest element of any amounts finally awarded by the courts will be subject to corporation tax, although HMRC
still consider that 45% restitution interest tax is applicable in respect of interest upon surplus unlawful ACT. This
matter is subject to appeal. These accounts have been prepared assuming that the restitution interest rate of 45% will be
applicable.

Separately, if the courts ultimately find that the Company is obliged to repay amounts previously awarded, interest
will be chargeable. These accounts include an estimate of £7.9m (with associated tax relief) based on the current status
of the litigation and the evidence provided to the courts.

The case has been referred back to the High Court for finding of fact to take place (see above). In addition, the question
of tax on restitution interest is subject to appeal. Finally, the full value of the claim (with appropriate supporting
evidence) is still to be determined and is therefore not reflected in these accounts.

Given the continuing complexity of the case and the uncertainty over the issues raised, it is not possible to predict the
final outcome of the litigation with a reasonable degree of certainty or to reliably quantify its impact at the date of
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11 Tax on profit (continued)

signing of these accounts. As a result, except as mentioned above, no further adjustments have been reflected in these
accounts.

Factors that may affect future current and total tax charges
In the July 2015 Budget Statement the corporation tax rate was reduced from 20% to 19% eﬁ'ectxve 1 April 2017, with
a further reduction to 18% effective 1 April 2020.

In the March 2016 Budget Statement it was announced that the corporation tax rate would reduce from 18% to 17%
effective 1 April 2020.

In the March 2020 Budget Statement it was announced that the corporation rate tax would remain at 19% for all
periods after 1 April 2017, and the previously substantively enacted rate change to 17% from April 2020 was over
written with this 19% tax rate.

All of these changes have been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

As a result of these changes, the effective current tax rate applicable for 2019 and 2020 is 19%. The rate applied to
deferred tax balances is 17% as at 31 December 2019 and 19% as at 31 December 2020, as these were the substantively
enacted rates applicable at the respective balance sheet dates and at which deferred tax balances were expected to
crystalise.

In the March 2021 Budget Statement, the Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate
would increase to 25%. As this change had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, its effects are not
included in these financial statements.

12 Tangible assets

Payments on
account
and assets
Laod and Plant and  in course of
buildings Machinery construction Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At beginning of year 29 420 4 453
Additions - .- - 7. 7
Reclassification between categories - 1 (¢))] -
At end of year 29 421 10 460
Accumulated Depreciation
At beginning of year (12) (259) - 271)
Charge for the year ¢Y) (23) - 24)
Disposals - - - -
At end of year 13) (282) - (295)
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 16 139 10 165
At 31 December 2019 17 161 4 182
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12 Tangible assets (continued)

Some fixed assets in land and buildings and plant and machinery within the toll manufacturing activities are accounted
for as being leased. . :

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:

2020 2019
£m £fm
Freehold . 7 7
13 Investments
Shares Total
£m . £m
Cost .
At beginning of year 3,896 . 3,896
Atendofyear © 3,896 - 3,896
Provisions . B .
At beginning of year (110) (110)
At end of year (110) (110)
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 - 3,786 3,786

At 31 December 2019 3,786 3,786

Shares in directly held subsidiary undertakings which are listed investments have a balance sheet value of £28m (2019:
£28m) and a market value at 31 December 2020 of £551m (2019: £508m).

The companies, in which the Company’s interest at 31 December 2020 is more than 20%, are disclosed in note 24.

14 Stocks
2020 2019
£m £m
Finished goods and goods for resale § 4

Value of stock expensed in cost of sales in the year was £435,866,000 (2019: £373,549,000).
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15 Debtors

IR

Amounts owed by group undertakings: due in less than one year

Amounts owed by group undertakings: due in greater than one year

Trade debtors
Other debtors -

Prepayments and accrued income

Group Relief

Due within one year

Due after more than one year

Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
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2020 2019
£m £fm
468 654
2,800 2,500
11 26

8 10

2 2
3,289 3,192
489 692
2,800 2,500
3,289 3,192

Amounts owed by group undertakings due within one year include a balance of £173,616,000 (2019: £473,808,000)

that is repayable on demand. Interest is charged

points.

monthly based on 1-month LIBOR plus a spread of +5/-10 basis

Amounts owed by group undertakings due after more than one year include intercompany loans of £2,500,000,000

(2019: £2,500,000,000) maturing on 15 August 2025. Average interest is fixed at 3.50% (2019: 3.50%).

Amounts owed by group undertakings due after more than one year include intercompany loans of £300:000,000
entered into during the year. The loan is maturing on 15 January 2025. Average interest is fixed at 1.84%.

Remaining amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of reﬁayment and

are repayable on demand.

16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts owed to group undertakings

Other creditors
Group relief
Lease liability

¢

2019

2020
£m £m
49 25
3,179 3,198
51 32
16 6
2 2
3,297

#

3,263

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable

on demand.

Group relief will be paid to fellow group companies for equivalent consideration.
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17 Provisions for liabilities
Post Restructuring Other Total
retirement provisions provisions
and benefit
provisions
£m £fm £m £fm -
At beginning of year 11 5 3 19
Statement of comprehensive income - 5 - 5
Utilised during year o (03} - 3)
At end of year T 10 8 3 21
Current 1 8 3 12
Non-current 9 - - 9
10 8 3 21

, . - )
Post retirement and benefit provisions

Provisions relate to the defined benefit obligations related to unfunded pension plans. Refer to note 23.

Restructuring provisions ~ * ' ) ‘
The Company provided £8m (2019: £5m) in relation to employee costs associated with restructuring activities during
the year within the Decorative paints business. It is expected the majority of this provision will be used in 2021.

Other Provisions

These include provisions for surplus real estate leases plus other operational liabilities and are expected to_be used
during 2020.

18  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
' 2020 2019
£m £m
Amounts owed to group undertakings - (210) - (’210)
Deferred Tax liability | . (65) . (GO
Lease liability @ . @
’ @79) (244)

Amounts owed to group undertakings include a loan of £210,000,000 maturing on 15 August 2025. Interest is fixed
at 2.06% (2019: £210 million).
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19 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019
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Assets Liabilities Net
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Tangible fixed assets 43 37 - - 43 37
Employee benefits - - (133) 90) (133) 90)
Provisions 2 2 - - 2 2
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 23 21 - - 23 21
Net tax assets / (liabilities) 68 60 133) (90) (65) 30)
Movement in deferred tax during the year
1January Recognised Recognised 31 December
2020  in Income in OCI 2020
£m £m ‘£m £m
Tangible fixed assets 36 6 - 42
Employee benefits (90) 27 (16) (133)
Provisions 2 - - 2
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 21 - 2 23
Impact of IFRS 15 1 - - 1
30) 1 a4 (65)
Movement in deferred tax during the prior year
1 January  Recognised Recognised 31 December
2019 in Income in OCI 2019
£m £m £m £m
Tangible fixed assets 34 2 - 36
Employee benefits ((3)) “n 12 90)
Provisions 3 1) - 2
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 21 - - 21
Impact of IFRS 15 1 - - 1
) (40) 12 30)
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19 Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

31 December 2020

Deferred tax assets are only recognised on losses to the extent that future probable taxable profits will be available
against which the deferred tax asset can be utilised. In 2017, based upon future profit forecasts of the Company,

deferred tax asset was recognised on gross cumulative tax losses of £121,305,541.

2020 2019

] £fm £m
Losses carried forward 121 121
Fixed assets - -
Restructuring provisions/business provisions/other - -
121 121

Equivalent Deferred Tax Asset value 23 21

The Company also has unrecognised capital losses of approximately £669m (2019: £669m) which can only be utilised
for certain capital transactions. Any future taxable capital gain, should it fulfil the applicable tax criteria, will be
covered by these capital losses, subject also to the restriction as provided in Schedule 4, Finance Act 2020 (losses

restricted to 50% of chargeable gain in respect of disposals after 1 April 2020).
20 Leases

(i) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-Use assets

Buildings
Plant & Machinery

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2020 financial year were £2million.

Lease Liabilities

31% December

Current
Non-Current
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20 Leases (continued)
ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
The statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:
2020
£m
Depreciation of right of use assets
Buildings 1
Plant & Machinery —l
=——2
The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was £11,463,269.
21 Called up share capital
2020 2019
‘ £m £m
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
1,209,327,168 (2019: 1,209,327,168) ordinary shares of £1 each : 1,209 1,209

All share capital is classified as shareholders’ funds. There has been no movement in the number of shares in the
current year. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

22 Capital and other commitments

Capital commitments at the end of the financial year, for which no provision has been made, are as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m

Authorised and contracted for - -

The Company had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of

the following periods:
2020 2019
£m £m

Not later than one year - .
Later than one year and not later than five years - -
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23 Post-retirement benefit provisions

Post-retirement benefit provisions relate to defined benefit pension and other post-retirement benefit plans, the latter
comprising a healthcare plan. The largest pension plans are the two funded plans - the ICI Pension Fund (“ICIPF”)
and the ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund (“ISCPF”) which account for 93.7 percent and 6.2 percent of defined
benefit obligations (DBO) and 93.6 percent and 6.4 percent of plan assets of the Company, respectively. There are
also two smaller, unfunded pension plans included which account for just 0.1 percent of defined benefit obligations
(DBO). The benefits of the pension plans are based primarily on years of service and final pensionable pay. The
funding policy for the plans is consistent with local requirements in the United Kingdom.

Valuations of the obligations under the plans are carried out regularly by independent qualified actuaries. We accrue
for the expected costs of providing such post-retirement benefits during the service years of the employees.
Governance of the benefit plans is the responsibility of AkzoNobel’s Executive Committee Pensions “The
Committee”). The Committee provides oversight of the costs and risks of the plans including oversight of the impact
of the plans on AkzoNobel in terms of cash flow, pension expenses and the balance sheet. The Committee also
develops and maintains policies on benefit design, funding, asset allocation and assumption setting.

Pension plans

The ICIPF and ISCPF plans were both closed to new members in 2001, although long-serving employees continue to
accrue benefits. Other employees are eligible to join a defined contribution arrangement. For a number of years the
defined contribution plan available was the Akzo Nobel Benefit Builder Scheme, but this was terminated in 2020 and
replaced by a Mercer Master Trust defined contribution arrangement. Unless mandated by law, it is AkzoNobel’s
policy that any new plans are established as defined contribution plans.

The most significant risks that AkzoNobel runs in relation to defined benefit plans are that investment returns fall
short of expectations, low discount rates, that inflation exceeds expectations, and that retirees live longer than
expected.

The assets and liabilities of each of the funded plans are held outside of the Company in a trust, which is governed by
a board of trustees. The ICIPF uses a corporate trustee, ICI Pensions Trustee Limited, a company which is owned by
The Law Debenture Trust Corporation PLC and the ISCPF uses a corporate trustee, ICI Specialty Chemicals Pensions
Trustee Limited, a company which is also owned by The Law Debenture Trust Corporation PLC. Both are professional
trustee companies which are entirely independent from the Company and its parent. The primary objective with regard
to the investment of pension plan assets is to ensure that each individual plan has sufficient funds available to satisfy
future benefit obligations in accordance with local legal and legislative requirements. For this purpose, AkzoNobel
works closely with plan trustees to develop investment strategies. Studies are carried out periodically to analyse and
understand the trade-off between expected investment retums, volatility of outcomes and the impact on cash
contributions. The aim is to strike a cautious balance between these factors in order to agree affordable contribution
schedules with plan trustees. Plan assets principally consist of buy-in annuity policies, long-term interest-earning
investments and (investment funds with holdings primarily in) quoted equity securities. Derivatives (such as index
futures, currency forward contracts and swaps) are used to reduce volatility of underlying variables, for efficient
portfolio management and to improve the liability matching characteristics of the assets. Limits have been set on the
use of derivatives which are periodically subject to review for compliance with the pension fund’s investment strategy.

In line with AkzoNobel’s proactive pension risk management strategy, we seek to reduce risk in our pension plans
over time. We continue to evaluate different potential de-risking strategies and opportunities on an ongoing basis.
Some future de-risking transactions may have both cash flow and balance sheet impacts which may be substantial, as
have some of the de-risking actions already taken. The cost of fully removing risk would exceed estimated funding
deficits.

Between 2014 and 2020, ICIPF and ISCPF have invested in annuity buy-in contracts that aim to hedge all key risks
related to their pensioner populations. In 2020, the Trustee of the ICIPF entered into a further annuity buy-in agreement
with Legal and General Assurance Society Limited and the Trustee of the ISCPF entered into a further annuity buy-
in agreement with Pension Insurance Corporation plc. Together they cover, in aggregate, £84 million of pensioner
liabilities (insurer valuation). The buy-ins involved the purchase of bulk annuity policies under which the insurer will
pay to ICIPF and ISCPF amounts equivalent to the benefits payable to members who have recently become pensioners.
The pension liabilities remain with, and the matching annuity policies are held within, ICIPF and ISCPF. The
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23 Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued)

accounting impact of the transaction is a lower valuation of the plan assets giving a reduction in Other comprehensive
income of £21 million of which £18 million relates to ICIPF and £3 million relates to ISCPF. By purchasing bulk
annuities, the ICIPF and ISCPF Trustees have taken significant steps in actively de-risking liabilities and reducing the
risk that the Company will be required to contribute additional cash in the future.

In October 2018, the UK High Court provided clarity for trustees and employers on providing equal pension benefits
for men and women where they are in receipt of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (‘GMPs’) as a result of the Lloyds
Banking Group judgment. According to this judgment, pension schemes were required to retrospectively equalise
GMPs by uplifting pensions to the same level, as far as needed, for men and women. On November 20, 2020, the High
Court ruled that pension schemes will need to revisit individual transfer payments made since May 17, 1990, to check
if any additional value is due as a result of GMP equalisation. As a result, a past service cost of £2.0 million has been
charged in respect of ICIPF and £0.8 million has been charged in respect of ISCPF, in 2020.

In setting the discount rate assumption for calculating the DBO of each plan, the so called Willis Towers Watson
(WTW) RATE: Link model is used for the majority of the plans in the group. RATE: Link had previously been using
a Bloomberg fixed income securities Bloomberg Industry Classification Standard (BICS) framework to provide the
relevant inputs. However, due to a change in the Bloomberg BICS framework in 2020, this framework is no longer
deemed suitable and RATE: Link now uses the Bloomberg BCLASS framework. Although the curve-fitting
methodology has not changed in 2020, the change in Bloomberg framework used by RATE: Link has resulted in an
estimated net £140 million remeasurement gain included in Other comprehensive income. The impact of the change
in accounting estimate in relation to bond inclusion is included in the reconciliation balance sheet table within the
overall £505m actuarial loss due to liability financial assumption changes in the DBO disclosed in the reconciliation
table.

On November 25, 2020, correspondence between the Chancellor of the Exchequer and the UK Statistics Authority
(UKSA) was published regarding the future of the Retail Price Index (RPI) measurement of inflation. With effect
from February 2030 onwards, increases in the RPI will be aligned with those under the Consumer Prices Index (CPI)
with owner occupiers’ housing costs (CPIH). Broadly this is expected to result in RPI inflation being 1% lower in the
longer term than under the existing methodology. The inflation assumption continues to be calculated using a market
breakeven inflation rate. However, the CPI inflation assumption, on which the benefits of some plans are based, is set
with reference to RPI. Until 2030, the CPI inflation assumption is calculated as 1% below RPI and from 2030 onwards
as 0.1% below RPI. The impact of changes in the inflation assumption in 2020 has been estimated as a £14 million
gain recognized within remeasurements in Other comprehensive income.

The remaining pension plans comprise two unfunded pension schemes and a defined contribution arrangement which
provides benefits based on contributions made. The expenses of all plans accounted for as defined contribution plans
totalled £5 million in 2020 (2019: £6 million).

Other post-retirement benefit plans

The Company provides unfunded healthcare benefits for eligible, retired employees from retirement date until the age
of sixty five through a scheme operated by a healthcare insurer for the Company’s employees in the UK. In 2020, 98
retired employees were beneficiaries of the scheme (2019: 109). The plan exposes the Company to the risk of a further
decline in discount rates, which would increase the plan obligations.

Reconciliation balance sheet

The adjacent table details the annual movements for the total post-retirement benefit provisions. The closing net
balance sheet provision of a £839 million net asset (2019: £744 million net asset) comprises: Pension plans £841
million net asset (2019: £746 million net asset) and Other post-retirement benefit plan £(2) million net liability (2019:
£(2) million net liability).
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23 Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued) -

. 2019 2020
£m £m £m £m £m' £m
DBO  Plan assets Total DBO  Plan assets Total
Balance at the beginning of the ye;:r ’ (8,128) " 8,498 370 (8,320) 9,064 744
]
Statement of comprehensive income
Current service cost A3) - 3) . 3 . - 3)
Past service cost (¢)) - @ @ - @
Non Sponsoring entity contributions - 1 1 - 1 1
Net interest (charge)income on net defined benefit asset 212) 232 20 (153) 167 14
Income recognised in statement of comprehensive ' . )
income . (216) : . 233 17 (160) 168 8
Remeasurements '
Actuarial (lossYgain due to liability experience a3 - a3) S8 L. 82
Actuarial loss due to liability financial assumption ’ )
changes (662) - (662) (505) - (505)
Actuanal (loss)/gain due to liability demographic .
assumption changes , 131 - 131 28) - (28)
Actuarial loss due to buy-ins - (26) (26) - 1) (21)
Retumn on plan assets (less) than discount rate - . 504 504 - 551 551
Remeasurement effects recognised in other .
comprehensive (expense)fincome (544) 478 (66) “s1) . 530 79
Cash flow . \ .
Employer contributions ) - . 424 424 - 9 9
Non Sponsoring entity contributions - (@) [¢)) - ) @)
Benefits and administration costs paid from plan assets 568 (568) - 559 559 -
Net cash flow 568 (145) 423 ' 559 551y 8
Balance at the end of the year (8,320) 9,064 744 (8,373) 9,212 839
g 2019 2020
In the balance sheet under £m £m
Fixed assets: Net defined benefit asset 755 849
Post-retirement benefit provisions (10) (8)]
Current portion of provisions () )
Net balance sheet provision 744 839

52



Imperial Chemical Industries Limited
Registered number 218019

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
31 December 2020

+

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

23 Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued)

The expenses of the funds are borne directly by the Company. Administration expenses are expensed as incurred
and charged to Operating income. Administration expenses in 2020 totalled £13 million (2019: £13 million). In

addition, directly incurred asset management expenses in 2020 totalled £3 million (2019: £4 mllhon) and have been
included in Other comprehensive income.

DBO at funded and unfunded pension plans

2019 2020
£m £m
Wholly or partly funded plans 8,309 8,363 C
Unfunded plans 11 10
' . 1
Total ' ‘ 8320 8373

Interest costs on DBO for both pensions and other post-retirement benefits together with the interest income on plan
assets comprise the net financing credit on post-retirement benefits of £14 million (2019: £20 million), see Note 7.

Plan assets
2019 2020
" £m £m

Percentage Percentage
Total of total Total of total

Debt — fixed interest government bonds 951 11 831 9 .
Debt — index-linked government bonds 904 10 1,378 15
Buy-in annuity policies ) 6,851 76 6,835 74
Cash and cash equivalents _ 132 1 82 1
Other 226 . 2 86 1
Total 9,064 100 9,212 100

The equities and government bond debt assets in the table above have quoted prices in active markets, although
most are held through funds comprised of such instruments which are not actively traded themselves. The UK buy-
in annuity policies are unquoted plan assets. The other categories of plan assets include certain assets that are not
quoted in active markets. Such unquoted securities totalled £15 million (2019: £16 million). Unquoted plan assets
include investments in infrastructure. Plan assets did not directly include any of AkzoNobel’s own transferable
financial instruments, nor any property occupied by or assets used by the Company.
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23  Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued)

Plan assets (continued)

Pension balances recorded under Fixed Assets: Net defined benefit asset totalled £849 million (2019: £755 million). The increase
in 2020 was primarily due to £8 million of pension contributions. £7 million of net credits in the income statement and £79 million
of net actuarial gains in Other comprehensive income in the relevant plans. These assets could be recognized under IFRIC 14
because economic benefits are available in the form of future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the
plan, either during the life of the plan or on the (final) settlement of the plan liabilities.

Cash flows

In 2021, we expect to contribute £9 million (2020 actual: £8 million) to our defined benefit plans. This includes £6
million (2020 actual: £5 million) of regular contributions and £3 million (2020 actual: £3 million) for top-up pension
contributions. No allowance is made for any special one-off contributions that may arise in relation to new de-risking
opportunities.

The figures in the table below are the estimated future benefit payments to be paid from the plans to beneficiaries over
the next ten years. - i L

Future benefit payments
Other post-
retirement
Pensions benefits
£m £m
2021 * . 560 - ,
2022 ' 560 - ' '
2023 : 560 -
2024 560 - '
2025 560 -
2026-2030 - - R 2,798 1
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23 Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued)
Key figures and assumptions by plan
2019
Other
Other post-
ICIPF ISCPF  pension retirement
UK UK plans benefits Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Percentage of total DBO 94% 6% 0% 0% 100%
Defined Benefit Obligation (7,796) (513) 9 | 03} (8,320)
Fair value of plan assets 8,492 572 - - 9,064
Plan funded status 696 59 ) ) 744
Amounts recognised on the balance sheet 696 59 ®) @ .. 74
Percentage of total current service cost » 82% 18% 0% 0% 100%
Current service cost 3 1 - - 4
Employer contributions - 420 4 1 - 425
Discount rate 1.9% 2.0% 1.7% 1.7% 1.9%
Rate of compensation increase 1.5% 1.4% - - 1.5%
Inflation . 3.1% 3.0% 3.2% - 3.0%
Pension increases 2.9% 2.8% 3.0% - 2.9%
Life expectancy (in years)
Currently aged 60
Males 26.3 26.7 26.8 263 26.3
Females 27.8 284 29.1 27.8 278
Currently aged 45, from age 60
Males 273 27.8 28.0 © 274 27.3
Females 29.0 29.6 304 29.0 29.0
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Key figures and assumptions by plan (continued)
2020
Other
Other post-
ISCPF  pension retirement
© - ICIPF UK UK plans benefits Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Percentage of total DBO 94% 6% 0% 0% - 100%
Defined Benefit Obligation (7,844) (519) 8 v} (8,373)
Fair value of plan assets 8.621 591 - - 9,212
Plan funded status - m 72 ®) 03} 839
Amounts recognised on the
balance sheet 777 T2 @8 ) 839-
Percentage of total current ' ‘
service cost 82% 18% 0% 0% 100%
Current service cost 3 - - - 3
Employer contributions 4 4 1 - 9
Discount rate 1.3% 1.5% 1.3% - 1.5% 1.3%
Rate of compensation increase - 1.5% 13% - - 1.5%
Inflation : 2.9% 2.8% 2.9% - : 2.9%
Pension increases 2.8% 2.7% 2.9% - 2.83%
Life expectancy (in years)
Currently aged 60 : ,
Males 26.4 26.9 26.4 26.4 26.4
Females 28.0 28.6 28.0 28.0 28.0
Currently aged 45, from age 60 :
Males s 275 27.9 275 27.5 275
Females 29.2 29.8 29.2 - 29.2 29.2
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23 Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued) . AN P

Sensitivity of DBO to change in assumptions

2020 . ' '
’ R Other
; Other post-
ICIPF ISCPF  pension retirement
UK UK plans benefits Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Discount rate: 0.5% decrease ’ ©t 485 - 48 - - 533
Price inflation: 0.5% increase” 273 28 - - 301
Life expectancy: one year increase from e
age 60 614. - 26 1 - 641
Maturity information )
Weighted average duration of DBO (years) 12.1 . 17.8 8.0 6.6 12.4

The sensitivity effect on DBO shown allows for an alternative value for each assumption while the other actuarial
assumptions remain unchanged. While this table illustrates the overall impact on DBO of the changes shown, the
significance of the impact and the range of reasonably possible alternative assumptions may differ between the
different plans that comprise the total DBO. In particular, the plans differ in benefit design, currency and average
term, meaning that different assumptions have different levels of significance for each plan. The sensitivity analysis
is intended to illustrate the inherent uncertainty in the valuation of the DBO under market conditions at the
measurement date. Its results cannot be extrapolated due to non-linear effects that changes in the key actuarial
assumptions may have on the total DBO. Furthermore, the analysis does not indicate a probability of such changes
occurring and it does not necessarily represent our view of expected future changes in DBO. Any management
actions that may be taken to mitigate the inherent risks in the post-retirement defined benefit plans are not reflected
in this analysis, as they would normally be reflected in plan asset changes rather than DBO changes.

The sensitivities in the table only apply to the DBO and not to the net amounts recognized in the balance sheet.
Movements in the fair value of plan assets (which include the de-risking instruments) would, to a significant extent,
be expected to offset movements in the DBO resulting from changes in the given assumptions. The annuity buy-in
contracts cover approximately 99 percent of pensioner liabilities (2019: 99 percent) and 83 percent of total liabilities
at ICIPF (2019: 84 percent) and 98 percent of pensioner liabilities (2019: 99 percent) and 63 percent (2019: 64
percent) of total liabilities at ISCPF.
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23 Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued)

Key plan details of the largest two pension plans

Type of plan
Benefits

Pension increases (main benefit section)

Plan structure

Governance

Regulatory framework

Funding basis

Frequency of funding reviews
Latest completed valuation
Funding deficit' at latest completed valuation

Recovery plan

Next funding review

Asset allocation at March 31, 2020
Matching:

Return seeking:

Matching:

Membership at March 31, 2020
Active

Deferred

Pensioner

Total

! Based on local valuation regulations.

ICI Pension Fund, UK

Defined benefit, based upon years of service and final salary
Retirement pension for employee

Dependents’ pensions on death of employee/pensioner
Options for ill health early retirement

Annually linked to UK RPI with a maximum of 5 percent

Plans are set up under a trust and are tax approved

Trustee directors:

Four member-nominated trustees .

Five appointed with the agreement of Law Debenture
One independent (Law Debenture)

The plans are tax approved and assets are held in trust for the
benefit of participants. The trustees have a legal duty to manage the
trust in the best interests of participants. Investment strategy is
controlled by the trustees in consultation with the company

A plan specific basis must be agreed with each trustee board in
accordance with UK regulations. The basis is not the same as the
IFRS calculation as it uses more prudent assumptions about life
expectancy and the discount rates reflect prudent estimates of the
expected return on assets actually held, thus the trustees’
investment strategies will impact the discounted value of liabilities
Normally every three years '

March 31, 2020
£23 million surplus

As there were sufficient assets to cover the Fund's technical
provisions, a recovery plan is not required.

March 31, 2023

99%

1%

Buy-in annuity contracts cover approximately 99% of pensioner
liabilities and 83% of total liabilities

116
6,245

38,286
44,647
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23

Key plan details of the largest two pension plans

'B

Post-retirement benefit provisions (continued)

Type of plan
Benefits

Pension increases (main benefit section)

Plan structure

Governance

Regulatory framework

Funding basis

Frequency of funding reviews

Latest valuation

Funding deficit' at latest valuation .

Recovery plan

Next funding review

Asset allocation at March 31, 2020
Matching:

Return seeking:

Matching:

Membership at March 31, 2020
Active

Deferred

Pensioner

Total

ased on local valuation regulations.

ICI Specialty Chemicals Pension Fund, UK

Defined benefit, based upon years of service and fmal salary
Retirement pensmn for employee

Dependents’ pensions on death of employee/pensioner
Options for ill health early retirement

Annually linked to UK RPI with a maximum of 5 percent

Plans are set up under a trust and are tax approved

Trustee directors:

Three member-nominated trustees

Three appointed with the agreement of Law Debenture
One independent (Law Debenture)

The plans are tax approved and assets are held in trust for the
benefit of participants. The trustees have a legal duty to manage the
trust in the best interests of participants. Investment strategy is
controlled by the trustees in consultation with the company

A plan specific basis must be agreed with each trustee board in
accordance with UK regulations. The basis is not the same as the
IFRS calculation as it uses more prudent assumptions about life
expectancy and the discount rates reflect prudent estimates of the
expected return on assets actually held, thus the trustees’
investment strategies will impact the discounted value of liabilities
Normally every three years

March 31, 2020

£7.3 million deficit

£3 million to be paid in January 2021 (after a £3m payment in
January 2020, from the previous recovery plan, included in the
latest funding position calculation)

March 31, 2023

84%

16%.

Buy-in annuity contracts cover approximately 98% of pensioner
liabilities and 63% of total liabilities

19
808
924
1,751
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24 Investment in related undertakings

The companies, in which the Company’s interest at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 is more than 20%, are

as follows;

Subsidiary undertakings

. Country of Class of shares Ownership
Incorporation held
) 2020 2019
Akzo Nobel India Limited** India Equity 50.46% 50.46%
Akzo Nobel (NASH) Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Akzo Nobel (NSC) Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Akzo Nobel Packaging Coatings Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Akzo Nobel Paints Lanka (PVT) Limited** Sri Lanka Ordinary 50.6% 50.6%
Akzo Nobel Paints (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Ordinary 59.95% 59.95%
Akzo Nobel Paints Vietnam Ltd* Vietnam Ordinary 100% 100%
Cambrian Decorators Supplies (C.D.S.) Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Cambrian SW Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Cuprinol Limited (formerly Horsefeny Investments England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Limited) * .
Detos Botsviana (Pty) limited® ' Botswaha Class A 100% 100%
' T, Class B 100% 100%
Dulux Limited 4 England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Dulux Swazland (Pty) Limited* ' . Swaziland Capital 100% 100%
Dulux Zambia (2005) Limited* Zambia Ordinary 100% 100%
Ergon Investments International Limited® England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Ergon Investments UK Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Hammerite Products Limited . ‘. England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Horseferry Investments Limited (formerly Cuprmol England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Limited .
ICHEM)Remsuxance Company Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI Chemicals & Polymers Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI Fertilisers (Ireland) Limited Ireland Ondinary 99.9% 99.9%
ICI Finance Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
) Preference 100% 100%
ICI India Rcsearch and Technology Centre‘ * India Voting Only 25% 25%
ICI Insurance Company Limited# . Cayman Islands Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI International Investments Limited - Cayman Islands Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI International Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI Iretand Limited* Ireland Ordinary 100% 100%
Canliq3 Limited (formerly ICI Limited) England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI North America Limited (formerly Polycell Limited) England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
ICI Paints (Trade Contract) Limited® England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
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24 Investment in related undertakings (continued) - * - oot
Subsidiary undertakings Country of Class of shares Ownership
© Incorporation held
ICI Theta BV* . ) Netherlands _ Ordinary 100% 100%
Intex Yarns (Manufacturing) Limited® England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Impkemix Trustee Limited Guemsey Ordinary 100% 100%
J.P. McDougall & Co. Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Metlac S.p.A.* , Italy |, Ordinary 4444% . 44.44%.
Mortar Investments International Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Mortar Investments UK Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Pinturas Coral De Bolivia Ltda* Bolivia Ordinary 100% 100%
Polycell Products Limited (formerly ICI North America England and Wales Ordinarv 100% 100%
Limited : .
Sales Su)pport Group Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Scottish Agricultural Industries Limited* England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Stevenston Holdings Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Subsidiary undertakings Registered Office Address Limited by Registration = Public or
shares or nuinber private
o . guarantee .
Akzo Nobel India Limited** Geetanjali Apartment, 8 B, Middleton ~ Shares L24292WB19 Public
Street 54PLC021516
‘ Kolkata
700 071
India
Akzo Nobel (NASH) Limited* The AkzoNobel Building, Shares 1000836 Private
Wexham Road
Slough
SL2 5DS
United Kingdom
Akzo Nobel (NSC) Limited* The AkzoNobel Building, Shares 226707 Private
Wexham Road -
Slough
SL2 5DS
United Kingdom.
Akzo Nobel Packaging Coatings Limited*  The AkzoNobel Building, Shares 59837 Private
Wexham Road
Slough
SL2 5DS
United Kingdom
Akzo Nobel Paints Lanka (PVT) Limited** CIC House, 199 Kew Road Shares PV 4610. Private
Colombo 2
Sni Lanka W
Akzo Nobel Paints (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.* Lot 5827, Kawasan Perindustrian Nilai Shares 3393-v Private

Nilai
71800
Malaysia
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Subsidiary undertakings

Akzo Nobel Paints Vietnam Ltd*

Cambrian Decorators Supplies (C.D.S.)

Limited*

Cambrian SW Limited*

Horseferry Investments Limited (formerly

Cuprinol Limited) *

Dulux Botswana (Pty) Limited*

Dulux Limited

Dulux Swaziland (Pty) Limited*

Dulux Zambia (2005) Limited*

Ergon Investments Intemational Limited*

Ergon Investments UK Limited

Hammerite Products Limited

Cuprinol Limited (formerly Horseferry

Investments Limited)*

Registered Office Address

Lot E-1-CN, My Phuoc II Industrial
Park, Ben Cat District
Binh Duong

Vietnam

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

Haile Selassie Road
Gaborone

Botswana

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

10th Street Industrial Site
Matsapha

Swaziland

Plot no. 290 Nampungwe Road, Off
Mumbwa Road, Chinika
Lusaka

10101

Zambia '
The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS -

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom
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Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

31 December 2020

Registration  Public or
number private

462043000572 Private

629568 Private
11206314 - Private
2306148 Private
Co. 1855 Private
2048463 Private
7/1966 Private
60107 Private
2074788 Private
2074787 Private
2781134 Private

03756457 Private
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24 Investment in related undertakings (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

ICHEM Reinsurance Company Limited

ICI Chemicals & Polymers Limited*

ICI Fertilisers (Ireland) Limited

ICI Finance Limited

ICI India Research and Technology
Centre*

ICI Insurance Company Limited#

ICI International Investments Limited

ICI International Limited

ICI Ireland Limited*

Canliq3 Limited (formerly ICI Limited)

Polycell Limited (formerly ICI North
America Limited)

Registered Office Address

94 Solaris Avenue, Second Floor,
PO Box 69
Camana Bay
Cayman Islands
The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road
Slough
SL2 5DS
United Kingdom
Shandon Works, Commons Road
Cork
Ireland
The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road
Slough
SL2 SDS
United Kingdom
Plot No. 1/1, TTC Industrial Area,
Thane Belapur Road,
12 Koparkhaime
Navi Mumbai
400709
India
94 Solaris Avenue, Second Floor,
PO Box 69
Camana Bay
Cayman Islands
PO Box 309 Ugland House,
South Church Street
George Town
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road
Slough
SL2 5DS
United Kingdom
Shandon Works, Commons Road
Cork
Ireland

156 Great Charles Street, Queensway,
Birmingham, West Midlands, B3 3HN

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom
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Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Registration
number

#1070

358535

115416

45690

U73100MH19 -
76PTC019199

#2475

26631

2766927

196184

1852101

989786

Public or
private

Private

Private

Private

Pnivate

Private

Private

Private

Private

Private

Private

Private
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24 Investment in related andertakings (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

ICI Paints (Trade Contract) Limited*

ICI Theta BV*

Impkemix Trustee Limited

Intex Yarns (Manufacturing) Limited*

J.P. McDougall & Co. Limited*

Metlac S.p.A.*

Mortar Investments Intemational Limited

Mortar Investments UK Limited

Pinturas Coral De Bolivia Ltda*

ICI North America Limited (formerly
Polycell Products Limited)

Registered Office Address

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DSUnited Kingdom
The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

P.O. Box.25, Regency Court, Glategny
Esplanada, GY1 3AP Saint Peter Port

Guemsey

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

Strada Statale 35 Bis dei Giovi

Bosco Marengo
53-15062

Italy

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road

Slough

SL25DS

United Kingdom

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road,

Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom

Parque Industrial Pi 24
Santa Cruz de la Sierra
Bolivia

The AkzoNobel Building,
Wexham Road :
Slough

SL2 5DS

United Kingdom
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2881641 Private
24171758 Private
28405 Private
137784 Private
254941 . Private

Shares .

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

01264360064  Private

2767051 Private
2767052 Private
NIT Private
1015213026

521214 Private
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24 Investment in related undertakings (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings Registered Office Address Limited by Registration Public or
sharesor  number private
guarantee

Sales Support Group Limited* ' - The AkzoNobel Building, " Shares 891336 Private

: ‘ Wexham Road ‘

Slough
SL2 5DS
United Kingdom :

Scottish Agricultural Industries Limited* Clyde & Co, Albany House, 58 Shares SC15365 Private

S Albany St ‘
Edinburgh
EH1 3QR
. United Kingdom )

Stevenston Holdings Limited Clyde & Co, Albany House, 58 Shares SC48881 Private
Albany St )
Edinburgh
EH1 3QR
United Kingdom

*Held by Subsidiaries
**Equity
# The Company sold 100% of the share capital in ICI Insurance Company Limited on 7 April 2020

Direct and Indirect Subsidiary Activities

On 12 January 2021, the Company’s indirectly owned subsidiaries changed name: Cuprinol Limited changed name
to Horseferry Investments Limited, and the former Horseferry Investments Limited was renamed Cuprinol Limited;
Polycell Products Limited changed name to ICI North America Limited and the former ICI North America Limited
was renamed Polycell Products Limited.

On 1 March 2021, ICI Limited, an indirectly owned subsidiary changed its name to Canliq 3 Limited and was placed
into Member’s Voluntary Liquidation on 30 March 2021.

25 Operating leases

The toll manufacturing arrangement the Company has with another group company is partly accounted for as an
operating lease arrangement as per IFRIC 4, where the Company is the lessor. This lease extends to its production
facilities and the agreement has an indefinite end date, with either party able to cancel anytime with 6 months’ notice.
As there is no formal lease agreement in place between the parties, there are no set minimum contractual lease
payments.

26 Ultimate parent company and parent undertaking of larger group of which the Company is a
member

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary company of Akzo Nobel ICI Holdings, a company incorporated in
England and Wales.

The only group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by the ultimate parent company,
Akzo Nobel N.V_, incorporated in the Netherlands.

Copies of the Akzo Nobel N.V. Annual Report and Financial statements are available to the public and may be
obtained from Christian Neefestraat 2, 1077 WW, Amsterdam, Netherlands or online at:
https://akzonobel.com/en/investors
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27 Assets classified as held for sale

In April 2020 the Company disposed of 100% share capital in ICI Insurance Company Limited for a total consideration
of €5,700,000. Pursuant to the above sale, the carrying value of investments has been classified as assets held for sale.

28 Post Balance Sheet Events

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2020, global financial markets have experienced, and may
continue to experience significant volatility and there are significant consequences for the global economy from travel
and border restrictions, quarantines, supply chain disruptions, lower consumer demand and general market
uncertainty. The extent and duration of the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy and the sectors in which the
Company and its fellow group companies operate is uncertain at this time.

As of the signing date of these financial statements management was not aware of any material adverse effects on the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 as a result of COVID-19. Management will continue to
monitor the situation and the impact on the Company.
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